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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report
For the year ended 31 March 2023

The Directors present their report on the affairs of the Group, together with the audited financial statements and independent
Auditor's Report, for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “year”).

Review of the business and key performance indicators

The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company. The principal activity of its subsidiary undertakings
continues to be the sale and servicing of passengar cars and commercial vehicles and associated activities.

On 21 December 2021, the Group changed its accounting reference date to 31 March, consequently the comparative period
presents the 15 month period ended 31 March 2022. These consolidated financial statements are presented for the year
ended 31 March 2023,

In the year ended 31 March 2023, reported revenue decreased to £3.7bn, a decline of £0.1bn versus 2022 (-0.8%). While
this reflects the comparison of a 12-month period with a2 15-month period, there was a full year contripution from the Motortine
group of companies acquisition in the current year as opposad to five months in the prior period.

Gross margins in the year, at 11.8% (period ended 31 March 2022: 12.2%), down due to the unwind of significant market
tailwinds in the comparative period. The comparative period experienced an unprecedented 8 months of used vehicle value
appreciation due to favourable demand-to-supply conditions, positively impacting both new and used vehicles. Market
conditions began to normalise from November 2021.

Underlying operating expenses increased by £23 3m to £373. 1m (period ended 31 March 2022: £348.8m). I reflects the full
year impact of the Motorline group of companies acquisition and the continuation of sector-wide cost pressures.

The Group delivered underlying profit before tax of £51.2m in the year {period ended 31 March 2022: £95.2m) and total
profit before tax of £42.9m in the year (period ended 31 March 2022: £84.9m).

There was a net cash infiow from operations of £80.5m (period ended 31 March 2022: £141,6m), which was mainly the
resuit of the decrease in operating profit versus 2022 as well as an increase in the {evel of inventory,

The Group's main KPls are revenue, gross profit and number of vehicle units sold.

Year ended 31 March 2023

Revenue Gross Profit

£m mix* £m mix*
New Vehicles 1,422.0 37.3% 152.6 34.7%
Used Vehicles 20052 52.6% 127.6 29.0%
Aftersales 3883 10.1% 159.9 36.3%
Internal Sales / Other (83.1} - 0.7 -
Total 31,7324 100.0% 440.8 100.0%
18 months ended 31 March 2022

Revenue Grose Profit

Em mix* £m mix*
New Vehicles 1,665.2 40.7% 125.2 27.4%
Used Vehicles 1,8889.1 49.2% 147.8 32.3%
Aftersales 386.4 10.1% 184.0 40.3%
Internal Sales / Other (79.9) - 0.4 -
Total 3,760.8 100.0% 457.2 100.0%

* Revenue and gross profit mix calculated exciuding internal sales / other
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Review of the business and key performance indicators {confinued)

Naw Vehicles
Year ended 15 monthe ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022 Variance
New Retail Units 38,306 41,771 (8.3%)
Fleet Units 20,374 26,505 {23.1%)
Total New Units 58,680 68,276 {14.1%)

Vehicle production and supply conlinued 1o be disrupted during the period due o weli-documented global shortage of
semiconductors; while the comparative period was impacted by the COVID-related social and economic digruptions, with
trading impacted by the third national lockdown and resultant showroom closures.

As reported by the Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders (' SMMT"), total registrations of new vehicles in the UK during
2022 were 1.61m, down 2.0% on 2021. While new car registrations to retail customers increased by 2.0% in the 12 months
to December 2022, registrations to fleet customers fell by 7.5%. This was largely due 10 a focus on supply to retail customers,
and some disruption to the nomal cycle of the fizet market.

The Group’s total new unit sales in the year were 58,680, down 14.1% compared to the period ended 31 March 2022. Unit
sales to new refait customers decreased 8.3% and sales to fleet customers decreased by 23.1%

Total new car revenue in the year was £1,422.0m {period ended 31 March 2022 £1,565.2m)

During the year the Group delivered a £27.4 increase in gross profit to £152.6m, with an increase n gross margin of 280bps
to 10.7% with the prior year impacted to a greater degree by supply constraints

Used Vehicles

Yearended 15 months ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022 Variance

Total Used Units 77,551 77,308 0.3%

The SMMT reported thai the used vehicle market in the UK decreased by 8.5% for the 12 months to December 2022,

Following exceptional market conditions in the comparative period, driven by the imbalance of supply and demand as well
as restrictions in new vehicle supply, used car pricing returned to a more traditional depreciation curve from Novernber 2021

The Group’s total used vehicle unit sales increased during the year, from 77.308 in 2022 to 77,551, up 0.3% despite prior
period representing 15 months as opposed to 12 months in the current year Total used car revenue in the year was
£2,005.2m (2022: £1,889.1m).

Gross profitin used vehicles decreased from £147.6m in 2022 to £127.6m in the period.

Gross margin in the year was 5.4% (compared to 7.8% in 2022), driven principally by the aforementioned unwind of market
taitlwinds in the comparative period.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Review of the business and key performance indicators {continued)

Aftersales
Year ended 15 months ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022 Variance
Reavenue (Em) 388.2 386.4 0.52%

Aftersales continued to be impacted by higher-than-average levels of technician vacancies and absences, and availability
of parts In addition, the decline in the number of vehicles in the core less than three-year-old category, due 1o reduced new
vehicle registrations in the last three years, contributed to a decline in underlying demand.

Total aftersales revenue in the year was up 0.52% to £388.3m (2022: £386.4m).
ARersaies gross margin decreased by 640bps to 41.2% {2022: 47.6%).

Tax

The Group's tax charge before non-underlying items for the year was £11.2m (15 months ended 31 March 2022' £19.0m),
ah underlying effective tax rate of 21.8% (15 months ended 31 March 2022: 20.0%}). The Group's total effective tax rate far
the year ended 31 March 2023 of 19.5% was influenced by the effect of property disposals, non-deductible legal and
professiona; fees and adjustment in respect of the prior pericd estimate of such fees. Excluding the impact of these itemns,
the total effective tax rate for the period would have been 21.8% consistent with the Group's underlying effective tax rate of
21.9%.

The Group's total reported effective tax rate differs from this due to the deferred tax charge arising following the substantive
anactment of the planned increase in the standard rate of corporation tax to 25% from April 2023.

Acquisitions and disposals
During the year, the Group acquired one new business:

« In January 2023, the Group acquired the business and assets of Leicester Jaguar Land Rover from Walter E Sturgass
& Sons Lid. The Group now operates eight Jaguar and ten Land Rover businesses and 15 a key UK pariner for each
brand

The Group also dispased of or closed six businesses during the penod:
» Scarberough Honda

s Leeads Valvo

* Ipswich Kia

¢  Scunthorpe Kia
¢ Gatwick TPS

« Brighton TPS

On 30 June 2023 the Group disposed of all of the Toyota and Lexus franchises held by the Group (19 businesses in total)
to Steven Eagell Limited, FRF (South Wales) Limited, and Listers Group Limited.

At the date of this report, the Group consists of 140 franchises representing 23 brand paitners trading in 37 counties
natonwide. In addition, the Group operates eight trade parts specialists, three used car cantres, three standalone body
shops and two pre-delivery inspection (PDI)/preparation centres.
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Marshail Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Review of the business and key performance indicators (continued)

Change in ownarship and delisting in the prior period

On 29 November 2021 the Group recaived a conditional offer for the entire issued and 1o be issued share capital of the
Company from CAG Vega 2 Limited, this offer was subsequently accepted by the sharehclders and became unconditional
an 11 May 2022 On 16 May 2022 the Company made an application for the cancellation of trading of tha Company’s shares
on the Alternative Investment Market, with trading ceasing on 15 June 2022 The company is now a wholly owned subsidiary
of CAG Vega 2 Limited a subsidiary of Constellation Automctive Holdings Limited (Constellation Group)

Non-underlying items
The Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income inciudes separate presentation of non-underlying items te provide
& consistent understanding of the performance of the Group year on year

Non-underlying items in the year of £1.1m (2022: £10.2m) primarify comprise of the following:

+  Restructuring costs of £2.5m. These comprise £0.7m of costs associated with the integration of the Motorine
businesses, £0.8m relating to system enhancement expenditure and £1 Om of costs associated with the closure of
a number of the Group’s franchised dealerships primanily resulting from a review of the Group’'s portfolio follaw ng
the acquisition of the Motordine businesses

«  This was partially offset by £2.7m of profit from the disposal of freehold properties

Freehold Yand and buildings

The Group incurred a total of £0.1m in capital expenditure during the year. In the prior perniod the Group incurred a total of
£23.7m in capital expenditure, this included £12_ 1rn for the purchase of Tunbridge Velis Audi, £4.5m for Beckenham Aud)
and £1.3m for South Lakes Mercedes.

The NBV of the group's property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2023 was £208.1m (2022: £215 2m), of which £169 6m
refates to freehold land and buildings (2022: £173.8m). The property strategy remains key to the Group's success with
apprapriate freehold purchases reducing ongoing operating costs.

Working capital

During the year, the Group incurred a working capital outflow of £10.3m (2022 inflow £4.6m) dnven by higher stack levels
to support future sales. The increase in stock was not fully offset by an increase in stock funding n order to ulilise cash
reserves and reduce interest charge.

Net debt and facilities
At 31 March 2023, the Group's adjusted net cash was £37.6m {31 March 2022 £15 8m).

The Group's current finance facilities include a £80m revolving credit facility. which is committed until 30 September 2024.
The Group is also in active negotiation with various lenders regarding a new revelving credit facility which is expected to
deliver increased flexibility as wel! as lower funding costs.

Net debt (including IFRS 16 lease liahilities} as at 31 March 2023 was £148 Om (31 March 2022: £193.7m}).

Pensions
The Group has no current commitments under defined benefit pension schemes with all group pension plans being on a
defined contribution basis.

Dividend

An interim dividend in respect of the year ending 31 March 2023 totalling £20,000,000 (pertod ended 31 March 2022
£6,931,000) and representing a payment of 24.59p per ordinary share (period ended 31 March 2022: 8 86p) in issue at that
time was paid in September 2022,
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report {continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Principal risks and uncentainties

As with all businesses, the Group faces risks and uncertainties in the course of its operations. Risks continually evolve and
new ones emerge and the Group's management of risk remains an integral component of business management and
Corperate Governance. Though the disruption from COVID-19 has lessened from previous years, the wider economic
anvironmant continues t¢ be challenging and impacts the specific sector that the Group trades in. The Group has a robust
approach in the identification, analysis and response to alt relevant current and potential nsks and uncenainties, and
develops mitigation plans to reduce the likefihcod and/or impact of the rigks to the lowest extent possible. The Board takes
overall responsibility for overseeing the effectiveness of the risk management process, with a particular focus on determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take to achreve its strategic objectives.

Description

Mitigations

Operational

The Group could potentially suffer a significant business
interruption from an unplanned event or series of events
and circumstances, which could impact the Group's
ability to continue operating at planned level.

The failure to recover, in an acceptable time frame
and/or to an acceptable level could lead 1o the Group
missing its financial targets, a reduction in confidence of
key stakeholders as well as reputational damage
impacting employees and customers.

The Group is increasing its EV capability, but an
inability to meet the increasing consumer demand for
EV through lack of skilled technicians and on-site
investment could lead to loss of customers and
profitabitity.

The Group incurs significant employment costs and
competes with other employers to recruit and retain
people. High empioyment levels and a lack of skilled
workers such as technicians could lead to a scarcity
of staff. It may he necessary to increase the wages
and salaries required to attract and retain suitable
employees in the future. In addition, future legisiative
changes could lead to an increase in payroll costs,

There is a Crisis Management Team in place at the exacutive
level supported by senior management in all areas of the
business.

There are also tried and tested communication channels in
place for all stakeholders and employees enabling changes
to be implementad promptly.

These protocols have been designed and iested
throughout the pandemic and can be re-implemented as
and when required.

The Group is closely monitoring EV demand and sales n
order to ensure that's sites are fit for pumose and afiersales
has an appropriate mix of capability.

Management monitors market rates for wages and
salaries, and reviews employee turnover. Retention plan
are centred around a ‘Great Place to Work® culture, with
training and career development programmaes.

Regulation and Legislation

The political and tegislative environment within which the |
Group operates is constantly changing. The Group must
comply with an extensive range of reguiation and
legislation in order to provide its services, including laws
relating to dala protection, competition. consumer
protection (including FCA), Driver & Vehicle Standards
Agency, labour, health and safety, money laundering,
bribery and taxation.

Non-complianca to the required standards could lead to
significant legal cases and could have an adverse effect
on the reputation and performance of the Group.

Regulatory intervention in the market can impact both
operations and profitability.

The automotive industty is also subject to legisiation
around environmental issues. These can impact vehicle
supply and demand.

Management continues to ensure that the fegal function plays
a key role within the Group and utilises Constellation and
extarnal specialist legal advisers as necessary.

The Group has detailed health and safety procedures,
processes and training in place and empioys health and safaty
teams to lead and support across the Group.

The Group has detailed compliance procedures, processes
and training in place and employs compliance teams to lead :
and support across the Group.

Management monitors the impact of legislative and regulatory
changes and regularly reviews the possible impact of these
changes. The impact on the used vehicle market of the UK ban
on the sale of new patrol and diesel cars by 2030, for example,
cannot be assessed at this stage.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Description
Management

Ritigations

A sigrificant change in the Group's senior management
coukd weaken the Group's business and its ability to
execule its strategy. The Group's senior management
has extensive experience in the industry in which the
Group operates and has skills that are critical to the
operation of the Group's businesses and the execution
of its strategy.

The Board regularly review the senior management
remuneration policy and engagement t¢ ensure that both are
market appropriate and motivational. Given the scale and
success of the business, the Group is confident that it is
capable of afiracting and retaining management resources of
the highest quality.

Strategic

The Group's future operaling resuits are dependent, in
part, on its success in implementing its strategic
initiatives.

The Group continually seeks to provide an increasingly
' digitat and dynamic future by developing solutions that
operate at scale. These initiatives regquire extensive
planning and management attention and therefore
entail execution risk.

The Group's long term growth has, in part. been
aftributable to the acquisition of other businesses, and
the Group may continue to expand its business through
acquisitions and other business combinations in the
futura,

U

Management carries out extensive sirategic planning and
conducts due diligence and integration modelling to ensure

¢ alignment and fit of acquisitions and new initiatives,

All acquisition and organic business development are focused
on services complementary to the Group’s existing offerings.

The diversity of franchises mitigates the cyclical nature of, and
an over reliance on individual vehicle brands.

The Group invests in the appropriate technological, physical
and people resources to deliver our strategies.

Commercial

A downturn in performance of manufacturing partners or
a faiture to maintain good relationships with them wouid
impact vehicle sales and profitability of those franchises,
in addition to impacting growth opportunities.

Integrating acquisitions successfully is key 1o ensuring
synergies are realised, financial performance is
enhanced and manufacturer relationships are not
damaged.

Alternative business models to the franchised
dealership mode! could similarty impact vehicle sales
and profitability of those franchises.

The loss of market share to competitors would have an
adverse impact on valume, impacting the operational and
financial performance of the Group.

The Group's experienced commercial team monitors
performance alongside effective communication with our
manufacturing partners in order to maintain strong commercial
relationships. This enables us to anticipate and solve issues as
they arise.

Management continues to perform portfolio management
focused on strengthening key franchise relationships, as well
as diverse representation to avoid over reliance on any single
manufacturer.

Detailed planning and due diligence is performed on alt
potential acquisitions, alongside a post-acquisiticn integration
plan

The Group continues to focus on omnichannel for a seamless
customer experience with choice, as well as benefiting from
being part of the Constellation Group as a competitive
advantage.

‘Flnance and Liquidity

The Group's strategy involves ulilising stock funding
ammangements in order to finance inventory purchases.
The availability of these arrangements are therefore key
for day-to-day operation.

The cumrent rising interest rate- environment increases
cost of stock funding and RCF, therefore reducing
profitability

Managesment monitors the macroeconomic and legisiative
changes in the markets in which it operates.

The Group has access to sufficient credit facilities, cash and
intercompany support to enable it to continue to operate in line
with strategy.

The Groups track record and financial position, leaves it well
placed to secure stock funding facilities.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

E Descriptian

Economic Environment

Mitigations

Activity levels in the automotive industry can be
affected by many factors such as the availability and
cost of both wholesale and consumer credit, the
:growih  of average wages, the level of

unemployment, inflation, energy prices and
challenges to supply ¢chains amongst others, which
in turn could impact the volume and profitability of
vehicles handled by the Group.

Fluctuations in used vehicle values can adversely
impact the value of the Group’s vehicle inventory.

Management continually analyses market conditions
through the planning and reporting processes. The Group
develops, implements and reviews actions to mitigate any
adverse impact on the Group.

Management continues to menitor the impact on the supply
chains, energy prices, inflation and consumer confidence of
evants such as the war in Ukraine.

Vehicle Inventory information is reviewed at all levels of
management on a regular basis with prudent polices on

- holding periods.
o

IT and Cyber Security

The business performance of the Group and its
ability to service its customers is highly dependent on
a wide variety of information systems and
infrastructure to run our business successfully. It 1s
therefore essential that key systems, software and
hardware are operationai at all times. Failure of these
for more than a short period could impact the ability
of the Group to support its businesses and have
' contractual implications which could lead to penalties
¢ or other liabilities.

Cyber secunty attacks that impact the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of our data and systems
could result in disruption o customer-facing,
supplier-facing and financial systems through theft
and misuse of confidgntial data, damage to, or
manipulation of operationally critical data, or
Interruption to our T services, any of which may have
serious consequeniial impacts on the Group's
operational performance and reputation leading to
penaities, fines andfor regulatory action

The Group continues 1ts ongoing programme to remove
and upgrade legacy infrastructure to ensure reasonable
effective resilience leading to modem, agile and
scalable platforms for business growth,

Cyber-attacks are increasing both in their frequency
and their sophistication of attack so despite the
measures taken by the Group, it is recagnised that a
cyber-attack on the Group could cause significant

_ disruption and reputational damage

The Group has mvested 0 strengthening the
information security team and reqularly updates policies
and processes to ensure that the Group keeps pace
with the increasing cyber security threats.

Regular security awarenesS communications and
training occur including phishing and spearing training
activities. Multi-factor authentication is used to reduce
the likelihood of remote attacks and carry our regular
penetration testing and vulnerability scanning.

The Group ulilises a range of security software
maintained both internally and by third parties to
protect, detect and respond to threats. Data is protected
with solutions dependant on the nature of the product
and services including encryption in transit and rest.
The Group maintains robust business continuity plans
and disaster recovery capabilities that are regulary
tested.

Physical Damage

Natural events, such as hailstorms and flooding or
other events such as terrorism, major accidents or theft
may impact the Group's physical facitities or affect
vehicles stored on the Group’s property awafting sale
or other activity.

Management monitors possible causes of physical damageﬂ
on each site and risks and concerns are reported to ensure
that there Is full visibility of any potential issues that might
occur. Where remedial or preventative action s
recommended, management considers the appropriateness
of such actions on a commercial basis, Insurance cover is in
place to moderate risk.




DocuSign Envelope ID: 77CFAS4F-08BC-4706-BDEC-CBIATIE1T41E

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Financial risk management

Business activities are carried out under normal trade terms, these terms and relationships with suppliers and customers
are regularly reviewed. The Group has a treasury arrangement providing access to all subsidiary undertakings to group wide
facilities. Funding requirements are managed on a group wide basis.

The Group does not use financial derivatives and does not enter into financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.

Details of the Group’s.principal financial instruments, its exposure to price, credit, liquidity and cash flow risks, together with
details of the Group's financial risk management policies, processes and systems, are set outin Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Board decision making (s172 statement)

The Board is accountable to sharehoiders for the management, performance and long-term success of the Group and
Company. The Directors have regard to thewr duty under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 to act in the way which
they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Group and Company for the benefit of its
members as a whole and, in doing so, have regard (amongst other matters) to:

(i) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

(ii) the interests of the Group's and the Cempany's employees;

{iii} the need lo foster the Group's and the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

(iv} the impact of the Group's and the Company’s operations on the community and the environment;

(v) the desirability of the Group's and the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
{vi) the need to ac! fairly as between members of the Group and Company.

Section 172 therefore requires the Board to consider wider stakeholder interests when discharging their duty to promote the
success of the Group and Company.

For the purposes of decision making, the Directors have identified key stakeholder groups, have evaluated their inlerests,
and describe betow how they have engaged with and responded to the interests of those stakeholders during the year ended
31 March 2023,

S“Gk:;‘::’d“ Intarests How does the Group Engage and Respond
Customers + Dealing with a trusted and « A “Sales Orientation Programme”, which all new Sales
transparent organisation. Executives attend, to ensure that they deliver a consistent
« Maintaining a relationship over the and high-quality customer experience.
long term, « A customer-focused culture, supported by clearly
* Receiving balanced advice when defined sales processes.
purchasing a vehicle or having a + Effective governance supported by an independent
vehicle serviced or repaired. Compliance team, a detailed understanding of the
« Having ciarity as to the pricing of regutatoty environment, coupled with monitoring and
vehicles as well as the additional training to drive continuous improvement,
products and services, » The Group's scale of gperations, strong manufacturer
= Achieving good value for money. and other supplier relationships support the delivery of
* Responding promptly and value-for-money for the customer.
appropriately to any customer * Fraquent customer satisfaction surveys.
complainis or congerns. « Independent complaint handling by the Group’s internal
compliance team in relation to regulated activities.
Manitoring of customer complaints to identify any themes,
with appropriate actions taken to address identified
issues.

10
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Board decision making {8172 statement) (continued)

Sug:::‘l)der interests How does the Group Engage and Respond
Employees + Seeing an alignment between + Reguiar communications from the seniar management
personal and corporate values team, intranet, regular team meelings and engaging
» Knowing that the organisation has a | social media channels
strong commitment to ethical « Annuai employee survey followed by line manager
practices and compliance briefings and the development of action plans to drive
+ Being part of a successful and improvement,
secure argarsation + Group “whistle blowing” hotline provided by a third party
+ A safe working environment to aliow employees 1o raise concerns in confidence
* Knowing that their views are heard + Recognising colleagues through the Group's ‘Above and
and acted upon Beyond' awards programme
* Promoting diversity in the workplace; for example
through membership of the Autcmotive 30% Club.
 Group values and policies on work place conduct
develop a supportive, respectful and friendly working
anvironment.
* Investment in learning and development to ensure that
staff are equipped with the skills they need {o do their
roles.
= Group Health, Safety and Environment Team who work
with all sites to promote safe working practices as well as
monitoring trends and making changes to procedures in
response to those trends
Suppliers « A collaborative, open and supportive | + Strong relationships with vehicle manufacturers,
relationship develaped through ragular meetings with the Group's
* Prompt, clear and responsive senior management,
commun.cations * Long term partnership agreements with key strategic
suppliers, which deliver value for money for the Group
and certainty of business for the supplier.
Communities « Responsible investment, » Investing in the dealership portfolic to ensure that all the
development and operations sites are well maintained, optimise energy use and
+ Delivery of employment environmental impact, as well as being an asset to the
opportunities focal area.
+ Support for local communities and *» Providing direct employment to over 5,000 people
national causes + Supporting and raising awareness for the Motor and
Allied Trades Benevolent Fund.
« Supporting local and national charities, as well as
encouraging employees to become involved in the
communitias in which they work.
Sharoholders » A business with a clear strategy » Track record of strong financial performance.
which is well executed « Successful growth through strategic acquisitions that
« Financial discipline backed by have been appropriately integrated into the Group.
strong internal controls « Clear and transparent financial reporting.
» Strong return on investment
throughout the economic cycle
Funders « Open and honest relationship with + Clear and transparent financizal reporting
clarity as to business performance « Relationships with all funders at a senior level within
* Financial discipline backed by the Group.
strong internal controls which enables |+ Strong day-to-day working relationships between
delivery of commitments. Group and funder operational staff.

11
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Board decision making {5172 statement) (continued)

During the year, the following key decisions were taken by the Board, in respect of which the Board considered its duties
under Section 172:

¢+ Recommended Offer from CAG Vega 2 Limited: In December 2021, the Board recommended the offer from CAG
Vega 2 Limited (a subsidiary of Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited) for the entire issued share capital of the
Company al a price of £4.00 per share (the Offer}) The Offer became wholly unconditional on 11 May 2022. The Board
carefully cons'dered what impact the Offer would have on the Group’s and Company’s suppliers (including in particuiar,
its brand partners), funders and employees and engaged with these stakeholder groups throughout the Offer process.

Approval
This Strateg ¢ Report was approved by order of the Board on 21 September 2023.

DocuSkgned by:

Mark Bumus

1931 74600 220447

M C Hemus
Director
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company 1s that of a holding company. The principal activity of its subsidiary undertakings is the
sale and servicing of passenger cars and commercial vehicles and associated activities.

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out n the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income An interim dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2023 of £20.000,000 representing a payment of 24 59p per ordinary share in 1ssue at that time
was paid in September 2022 The Directors are not recommending the payment of a final dividend for the period. For full
details, see Note 12 ‘Dividends’

Directors

The Directors of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited ("the Company'} throughout the year and to the date of this Reporl are
detailed below.

Non-Executive Directors

Timothy Lampert (appo'nted 11 May 2022, resigned 31 March 2023)
Matthew Kelly (appointed 11 May 2022)

Alan Ferguson (resigned 11 May 2022}

Francesca Ecsery (resigned 11 May 2022)

Nicky Dulieu (resigned 11 May 2022)

Christopher Walkinshaw (resigned 11 May 2022}

James Mullins (appointed 30 March 2023)

Executive Directors

Mark Hemus (appointed 30 January 2023)

Daksh Gupta (resigned 25 May 2022)

Richard Biumberger {resigned on 31 December 2022)

No other Diractors held office during the year or have been appointed subsequently.

Directors’ insurance and indemnities

The Directors have the benefit of the indemnity provisions contained in the Company's Articles and the Company has
maintained, throughout the Year, Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance for the benefit of the Company, the Directors and
ts officers. The Company has entered into gualifying third party indemnity arrangements for the benefit of all its Directors in
a form and scope which comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and which were in force throughout the
year and remain in force.

Independent Auditor

In so far as each of the persons who were Directors at the date of approving these financial statements is aware:
» There is no relevant information of which the Group and Company's auditor is unaware; and
+ Each Director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themseives aware of any relevant
information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

A resclution to reappoint PricewaterhousaCoopers LLP as auditors of the Group will be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting.

Charitable and political donations

During the year, the Group made charitable donations of £69,000 (15 months ended 31 March 2022 £24,000).

No political contributions were made during the year (15 months ended 31 March 2022: £nil).

Going concern

The financial statements are prepared on a going concem basis. Aftar making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continug in operational existence for the foreseeable
future and for at least one year from the date that these financial statements are signed. For these reasons, the Qirectors
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. For further information on the going concem
assessment see Note 1 'Presentation of the financlal statements'.

13



DocuSign Envelope 10: 77CFAS4F-DBBC-4708-BDEC-CBIATOE1741E

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (confinued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Events since the balance sheet date
For tull details of all such events see Note 33 Events afier the reporting penod’
Future developments

The Group's strategic vision Is to be regarded as the UK's premier franchised automotive retaiier. The Group will continue
to focus on achieving this goal through:
« the parformance optimisation of the business
offering outstanding customer senice
demonstrating retailing excellence
buikling strong relations with our brand partners and key suppliers, and
by being a great place to work.

. 2 »

Employment of disabled persons

The Group gives full consideration to applications for emplayment from disabled persons where the candidate's particular
aptitudes and abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunities are available to
disabled employees for training career development and promation

Where existing employees become disabled, it1s the Group's policy to provide continuing employment wherever practicable
in the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate traming to achieve this aim.

Anti-bribery and corruption

The Group has in place an anti-bribery and corruption policy, the aim of which 1s to ensure that colleagues understand their
obligations under anti-bribery legislation and inciudes authorisation and disciosure procadures around the provision and
receipt of corporate hospitality and gifts

Employee involvement

During the year the Graup has continued to provide employees with infarmation about the Graup through the newsletisrs
‘Marshall Matters’ and ‘Compliance Matters'. team briefings and through the Group wide email distribution. Regular meetings
are held between local management and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas.

Business relationships

The Directors recognise that it is essential for the ongoing success and reputation of the Group to foster strong relationships
with the stakehclder community. For full details of these considerations and the effect this regard has had ¢n the principal
decisions made in the Year, see the Board Decision Making (s172 Statementl) section of the Strategic Report.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited are a ‘'large unquoted campany' under the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting
regulations sa must report annually on greenhouse gas emissions from Scope 1 and 2 Flectricity, Gas and Transport.

Methodology

The reporting period is the year ended 31 March 2023. This report has been compiled in line with the March 2019 BEIS
‘Envircnmerdal Reporling Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance', and the EMA
methodology for SECR Reporting. Al measured emissions from activities which the organisation has financial control over
are included as required under The Companies {Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon
Repart) Regulations 2018, unless atherwise stated in the exclusions statement.

The carbon figures have been calculated using the BEIS 2022 carbon conversion factors for all fuels, other than the market
based electricity which has been taken from EDF Energy and Bryt Energy as the UK supplier.

Direct greenhouse gas ('GHG') emigsions are from sources that are cwned or controlled by the Group. Indirect GHG
emissions are a consequence of the activities of the Group that occur from sources owned or controlled by other entities

Scope 1 emissions: Direct emissions from sources controlled by the Group arising from the combustion of fuel in awned or

controlled boilers, from the Automotive Services fleet and company cars. This is regardless of whether the vehicles are
ownad or leased as the Group is responsibte for their emissions.

14
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR} (continued)

Scope 2 emissions: Indirect emissions atiributable to the Group due 1o its consumption of purchased electricity and other

nergy sources.

Scope 3 emissions: Indirect emissions attributable to the Group, which accur at sources which are not owned or controlled
and which are not classed as Scope 2 emissions. These emissions arise from business travel in employee-owned vehicles
where Marshal Motor Group is responsible for purchasing the fuel.

T

UK Carbon Fooltprint Data L

he report sets out the Group's emissions for the current and prior year,

} Yerended

15 months ended
31-Mar-22*

Greenhouse Graenhouse
Gas Emissions Consun}sw.m Gas Emissions
i . (tCOze) {tCOz0)
Transport fuel (Scope 1) 35,080,301 8,151 38,819,841 9,018
Gas and other fuels (Scope 1) 16,786,476 3,069 32,234,896 7.014
Grid supplied electricity (Scope 2) 24,367,801 4712 35,283,360 6,389
Transport fuel (Scope 3) 273,628 64 457,758 107
Total 76,488,207 15,996 106,795,855 22,528
Year ended 15 months ended
31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22

Intonaity Metric:
tCOze per £'m Revenue 4.28 6.99

“The data for the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 includes data for the Motorline group of companies for the full period,

n

ot just the post acquisition period of 14 October 2021 to 31 March 2022.

Energy Efficiancy Actions taken
MMG have developed gas and slectricity league tables that hightight reductions made at each site month-on-month and
year-on-year, sent to sites each manth giving an active feedback of consumnption and aiding in pinpointing where reductions

could be made per site.
Carbon Literacy training is continuing to be rolled out throughout the Group
LED lights are being further installed throughout dealerships.

The Group continue to be with a 100% REGO backed fully renewable electncity tariff with Bryt Energy.
Proactive PPM on healing and air conditioners and garage equipment which also helps improves energy efficiencies.

Statement of Directors’' Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Report and financial statements (the “Annual Report”) and the financial

s

tatements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Direclors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards and the
Company financial statements n accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of treland™, and applicable law).

Under company law, Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are salisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or toss of the Group for that periad. In preparing
the financial statements, the Directors are reguired to.

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed for the Group financial
statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 have been followed for the Company
financial statements, subject to any materigl departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
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DocuSign Envelope 1D: 77CFAS4F-0BBC-4706-BDEC-CBSATIE1741E

Marshalt Motor Holdings Limited
Directors' Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Statamaent of Directors’' Responsibilities (continued)

» make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent, and
« prepare the financia) statements on the going concern basis unless it I1s inappropriate to presume that the Group
and Company wilt continue in business,

The Directors are respongible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other trreguiantias.

The Directors are &lso responsible for keeping adeguate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Group's and Company's transactions and disclose with reascnable accuracy at any lime the financial position of the Group
and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ confirmations
in the case of each Director in office at the date the Directors’ report is approved:

« 50 far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group's and Company's auditors
are unaware; ang

« they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's and Company's auditors are aware of that information.

Approval

This Directors' Report was approved by order of the Board on 21 September 2023
DocuSignhed by:

Mart Homus
B ERGERCA7
Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In aur opinion:

= Marshall Motor Holdings Limited's Group financial statements and Company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and
of the Group's profit and the Group's cash flows for the year then ended;

« the Group financial statements have been propery prepared in accordance with UK-adopted internationat accounting
standards as applied in accaordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006;

« the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland”, and applicable {aw); and

+ the financial stalements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Report and financial statements (the “Annual Report”), which
comprise. the Consolidated Statement of Finandial Position and the Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2023; the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the Consolidated Net Debt Reconciliation for the year then ended; and the notes to
the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under 1SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financiat statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate lo provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or Collactively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as a going
concarn for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate

However, because not ail future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as o the Group's
and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Qur responsibllities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sactions of this report,
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

(continued) ,
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Qur opinion on the financial statements
does not tover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whather the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or olherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a matarial misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact We have nothing to
report based on these responsibilities.

.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors' report

In our opinicn, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and
Directors’ repost for the year ended 31 March 2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicabte legal reguirements,

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did not identify any matarial misstatemants in the Strategic report and Directers' report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Respensibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial staterments in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. The Directors ara alsoc responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
¢f financial staterments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to
gontinue as a geing concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters reiated to going concern and using the going concern basis
af accounting uniess the Directors either intend o liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

{cantinued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statemants

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high leve! of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstaternent when it exists Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent
to which our procedures are capable of detecting irrequlant es, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry. we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
reguiations related to UK Corporation tax legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a
material effect on the financial stalements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the
financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated managemant's incentives and opportunities for
fraudutent manipulation of the financial statements (Including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the
principal risks were related to to posting inappropnate journal entries to increase revenue and joumal entries that
inappropriately credit cash, and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement
team included:

« Discussions with management including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws
and regulations and fraud, and review of legal costs;

+ |dentitying and testing journal entries, in particular any joumal entries posted with unusual account combinations for
example credit to revenue with a debit entry to an unexpected account, or journals which credit cash without going
through the standard purchases and payables process,

+ Testing management's assumptions made in their significant accounting estimates, to ensure these are not indicative of
management bias;

» Evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities; and

« Pearformed procedures to ensure the financial statements are appropriately prepared and disclosed in line with the
Companies Act 2006.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of
non-compliance with laws and requlations that are not closely related o events and transactions refiected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not detecling a matarial misstalement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may invoive deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statemments is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’'s members as a body in accordanca
with Chapler 3 of Part 18 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not. in giving these opinions, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or ta any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

{continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Other required reporting

Companies Act 20068 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion

+ we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adeguate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
the Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting recards and returns

We have no exceptions o report arising from this responsibility,

Ao LKoo

Andrew P Latham (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on hehalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Watford

22 September 2023
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DocuSign Envelope ID. 77CFAS4F-0BBC-4706-BOEC-CB9ATIE1741E

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Note
Revenue 5
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Net operating expenses
Operating profit
Net finance costs 10
Profit before taxation 2]
Taxalion 1
Profit from continuing operations after
tax

Totat comprehensive income for the
year net of tax

R

" Yaar ended 31 March 2023

| 15 months ended 31 March 2022 |

Non- Non-

Underiying undarlying Underlying underlylng
itams items Total iteme items Total
£'000 £'000 £:000 £'000 £'000 £000
3,732,369 3,732,289 3,760,882 3,760,882
_(3.291,587) (3.291.887) (3303604) - (3,303,804)
440,782 - 440,782 457,278 - 457,278
(373.128) (8,248) {381,376) (349.813) (10.209) {360,022
87,654 (8,248) ] 59,406 107,465 {10,209) 97,256
(16.488) {16,488) {12,296) - (12,296}
51,166 ({8,248) 42,918 95,169 {10,209) 84,960

’ .
(11,229) 2,873 (8,356) {19,031} (6.610) (25,641)
39,937 (5,375) 34,562 76,138 {18,819) 59,319
39,937 (5,378) 34,582 76,138 {16,819} 59,219

All activities of the Group in both the current and prior period are conbinuing
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DocuSign Envelope 1D: 77CFA54F-0BBC-4706-BDEC-CBIATIE1741E

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2023
Company Registration Number 02051461

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Non-current assets Note £'000 £'000
Goodwili and other intangible assels 13 170.760 176 124
Property, plant and equipment 14 208.059 215 245
Right.of-use assets 15 188.722 213926
Non-current financial assets 15 1,068 1190
Yotal non-current assets o 568,608 " 608,488
Current assets
Inventaries 17 503834 446 047
Trade and ather receivables 18 147 669 128,688
Cash and cash equivalents 19 47,798 27.698
Total current assels 699,301 7 602,433
Total assets B 1,267,910 1,208,919
Non-currant labilities
Loans and borrewings 22 8,775 10.683
Lease liabilities 15 166,079 162 404
Trade and oiher payables 21 14,042 12.092
Provisions 23 834 1,401
Deferred tax liabilities 24 45 457 46,387
Total non-current liabilitios _ o T a23ser 232,967
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 21 1.417 1,428
Lease kabildies 14 19,492 46.867
Trade and other payables 21 710.368 650.726
Provis:ons 23 6,026 3.710
Current tax habilibas 8.655 1018
Total current llabilities 745,988 703,749
Total liabilities o 981,145 226,716
Mot assets 186,745 272,50;_
Sharsholders’ equlty
Share capital 27 52,050 50,068
Share premium 27 19.672 19.672
Share based payments reserve 28 - 5617
Relained earnings 215,043 196,846
Totat aquity 286,766 272,203

The consol-dated financial statemants of Marshalt Motor Holdings L mited were approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 21 September 2023

DacuSigned by.

Mart: Hmus

18917 480ER2CAAT
M.C. Hemus

Director
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For tha year ended 31 March 2023

Balance at 1 January 2021

Profit for the period

Total comprehensive
income

Transactions with ownars
Dividends paid

Acquisilon of own shares
Exercise of share options
Share-based payments
charge .

Balsnce at 31 March 2022

Profil for the year

Total comprehensive
income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid

Issue of share capital
Exercise of share options

Share-based payments
charge
Balance at 31 March 2023

Note

12
28
28

28

12
27

28
28

Qwn
Share Share Share-based sharas  Retained Total
capital premium payments roeserve reserve earnings equity
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 _£'000 £'000
50,088 19,672 1,585 {12) 144,618 215,9}_1_
e e . 58,319 . 58,319
- 59.319 59,319
(6,931 (6.931)
(525} - {535)
{959) 547 160y (672
" - 4,891 4991
50,068 19,672 5617 - 196,846 272.2{53
34 562 34 662
- - 34,562 34,582
- {20,000y (20,000}
1.982 (1,982) -
5617 1,982 3635
o 52,050 T 7 DT 218043 286765
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year anded 31 March 2023

Year endad 15 months ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Note £'000 £000
Operating profit 59,406 97,256
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 6 35,787 34,730
Share-based payments charge - 6 700
Profit on disposal of assets classified as hed for sale 6 - (86)
Profitloss on disposal of proparty plant and equipment 6 (1,721) 409
Profil on disposal and remeasuremsnt of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities 6 (279) {1.843)
Loss on impairment and disposal of goodwill and other Intangible
assets & 7,195 .
Loss on impairment of right-of use assets 4] 472 608
Profit on disposal of investment property 2] - (913)
Cash flows from operating activities before working capital 100,840 136,951
{Increase) / decrease in inventones (54,193) 13,182
(Increase) f decrease in trade and other rece.vab'es (18,981) (32.193)
Increase / (decrease) In trade and other payables 61,001 21,761
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 1,749 1,980
Total cash flows ganerated by operations 90,506 141,581
Tax paid {1.650) (16,917}
Interest paid on lease liabilities (4.192) (4,177)
Other net finance costs (12,927) {8.214)
Net cash inflow from pperating activities 71,737 112,273
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant equipment and software 13114 (11.679) (38.617)
Acquisition of businesses. net of cash acquired 13 {5,173} (54,352)
Lease paymenls received under finance lease 116 136
Interest received under finance leases 59 95
Net proceeds from disposal of investiment property 1,780
Proceeds from disposal of praperty, plant and equipment 68186 2,276
Proceeds from disposal of assets classified as he'd for sale - 2
Net cash outflow from investing activities (10,051) (87,970)
Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings - 30,000
Repayment of borrowings (1.919) (31 213)
Repayment of lease labilities (19.6587) (21.133)
Dividends paid 12 (20 000) 6,931}
Purchase of own shares 28 - (535)
Settiement of exercisad share awards 28 B {638)
Nat cash outflow from financing activities (41,5886) (30,450)
Net increase/{decrease? in cash and cash equivalents 20100 (6,146}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 19 27.698 33,844
19 47,798 27,698

Cash and cash equivaients at year end / period end
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Consolidated Net Debt Reconciliation
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Year ended 15 months ended

3 March 2023 31 March 2022
Note £000 £'000
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
tNet increase/(decraase) in net cash and cash equivalents 20,100 (6,146}
Proceeds from drawdown of RCF 2z . {30 000}
Repayment of drawdown of RCF 22 - 30 000
Loans acquired in the year 13 - (8,300)
Repayment of gther borrowings 22 19189 1213
Change in lease hability commitments 29 4033 (131,080)
Repayment of iease habilities 29 15,667 21 ,13:}
Decreasel/{Increase) in net debt 45,719 {123,180)
Opening net dabt 28 (193,684) (70,524)
Net debt at year end { period end 29 (147,965) {193,684)
Leass liabilities 15 {185,571) (209,271)
Adjusted not cash at year/period end (non GAAP measure) 37,606 15,587
Net dabt at year end / period end consists of:
Cash and cash equivalents 19 47 798 27.698
Loans and borrowings 22 (10,192) (12,411)
Lease liabilities 135 (1856.571) (209,271)
Closing net debt 29 (147,965) (193,684)
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Presentation of the financial statements
General information

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited (the Company) is incorporated and domciled i the United Kingdom. The Company is a
private limited company, limited by shares. The Company is registered in England under the Companies Act 2006
(registration number D2051481) with the address of the registered office being. ¢/o Marshall Volkswagen Milton Keynes
Greyfriars Court, Milton Keynes, Buckinghamshire, MK10 OBN, United Kingdom

The financiai statements of Marshall Motor Heldings Limited were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21
September 2023.

Basis of preparation

The consoldated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accorgance with UX-adopted Intemational
Accounting Standards in canformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group™); a
schedule of afl subsidiaries is contained in Note 6 'Investments in Subsidiaries’ of the Company financial statements (page
82). The consolidated financiat stalements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as madified by the
ravaluation of investment properties and assets held for sale.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Sterling, which is both the functional currency of the Group's
subsidiaries and presentational currency of the Group. Al values are rounded o the nearest thousand pounds {£'000)
axcept where otherwise indicated.

Reporting pericd

On 11 May 2022 the entire share capital of the Company was acguired by CAG Vega 2 Limited, part of the Constellation
Group In anticipation of this change of ownership, to align the reporting period with that of the acquirer, all entities in the
Group changed the end of the reporting period from 31 December to 31 March. Amounts presented for the 2022 reporting
period are for 2 15 month period.

Going concern

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis Having considered the Group's forecast
financial parformance and cash flows, and after making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for at
least one year from the date that these consolidated financial statements are signed. For these reasons, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, these financial statements
do not inciude any adjustments to the carrying amount or classification of assets and liabilities that would resuit if the Group
were unable to continue as a going concern.

When making their assessment, the Directors have considered the impacts on profitability of margin reductions prompted
by the eventual easing of existing supply constraints as well as inflationary cost pressures. Furthermore, the impacts on
consumer confidence of 2 prolonged economic downturn and continuing detericration of real incomes have been factored
into sensitivity scenarios. The Group is continuously monitering and mitigating, where possible, the impacts of these risks

Whilst the Group has net current liabilities, the Group has considerabie financial resaurces available totalling £108 miilion
as at 31 March 2023, These consist of £48 million of cash and cash equivalents as well as £60 million of committed, but
undrawn, banking facilities made available under a revolving credit facility agreement due to expire in September 2024
The revolving credit facility is subject to leverage and fixed charge cover covenants, Forecasts indicate that the Group 1s
expected to be compliant with these covenants throughout the foracast period. In addition, the Group has a number of
term loans secured against certain property assets of the Group under which balances cutstanding as at 31 March 2023
total £14 million. Only £1 million of borrowings are repayable within one year.

To support the Group's working capital position, alongside the above core banking facilities, the Group also has access to
a number of ancillary vehicle inventory funding arrangements of which £461 million were utilised as at 31 March 2023.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights. to

variable retumns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the

investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee If, and only if, the Group has; a) power over the investee {i.e., existing

nights that give it the current ability lo direct the relevant activities of the investee}, b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
- from its involvement with the investee; and c} the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

In assessing contral potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. Generally,
there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes (o one or more of the elements of contro! detailed
above.

The financial information of subsidiaries is included in the consolidated financial information from the date that control
commences untit the date that control ceases. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consalidated financiat staterents from the date the Group gains control until the date
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary. it derecognises the related assets {(including goodwill}, liabilittes. non-
controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or 10ss is recognised in profil or loss. Any
investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

intragroup balances and any gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transact-ons, are eliminated
in preparing the consalidated financial information. Losses are eliminated in the same way as gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Subsidiary audit exemptions
The cansolidated financial statements include the resuits of all subsidiary undertakings owned by the Company as listed
in Note 6 ‘Investments in Subsidianes’ on page 82.

Certain of the Group’s subsidianes, listad below, have taken the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 March
2023 by virtue of s479A of the Companias Act 2006. In order 1o allow these subsidiaries to take the audit exemption, the
parent company, Marshall Motor Holdings Limited, has given a statutory guarantee of all the outstanding labilities as at
31 March 2023 of the subsidiaries listed below.

The subsidiaries which have taken an exemption from audit for the year ended 31 March 2023 by virtue of s479A of the
Companies Act 2006 are:

Astle Limited (reg no. 01114583) Motorkine (Broad Oak) Limited {reg no. 1027093

Crysial Motor Group Limited (reg no 04813767) Molorline {Canterbury) Limited (reg no. 08237424)
Dealcairn Lirnited {reg no. 04073914) Pentagon Limited (reg no. 01862751)

Driveline Limited (reg no. 04526624) Prep-Point Limited (reg rno. 00560067)

Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP (reg no. OC329331) Ridgeway Bavarian Limited (reg no. 07930214}

Marshall North West Limited (req no 00322817) Ridgeway TPS Limited (reg no. D6112651)

Marshall of Cambridge (Garage Properties) Limited (reg no. 02051459)  S.G. Smith Automolive Limited (reg no. 00622112)

Marshall of Ipswich Limited {reg no. 04447940) 5.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited (reg no. 00648395)
Marshall of Peterborough Limiled ireg no, 04861074) $.G. Smith (Motors) Crown Point Limited (reg no. 00581711}
Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited (reg no. 01174004) S.G. Smith (Motors) Fores! Hill Limited {reg no. 00581710}
Marshall of Stevenage Limited {reg no. 06450140) $.G. Smith Trade Paris Limited (reg no. 01784317)
Motortine Holdings Limited (reg no. 05478773) Silver Street Automotive Limited (reg no. 00716748)
Motortine TPS Limited (reg no. 10474229} Tim Brinton Cars Limited {reg no. 01041301}

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair vaiue of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests ssued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations {continued}

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes 1o ihe fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with IFRS § Firancial Instruments in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Contingent
tonsideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent setiiement is accounted for within equity.

Acquisition retated costs are expensed as incurred and are excluded from underlying profit before tax.

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attribuled to the identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liapilities
unless the fair value cannot be reliably measured. in which case the value is subsumed into goodwill. With the exception
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, in a business combination all identifiable assets acquired and kabilities assumed,
including any contingent liabilities, thal meet the recognition criteria under IFRS 3 Business Combinations are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of lease payments under the lease term remaining as at the date of
acquisition. When calculating the present value, the lease liability is discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing
rate as at the date of acquisition. The Group's incremental borrowing rate is used as a proxy for the lessee’s rate on the
basis that the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The associated right-of-use assets acquired
are recognised at the same value as the lease liability plus any dilapidation provisions. Where there are either favourable
or unfavourable lease terms acquired, adjustment is made to increase or decrease the right-of-use asset balances
respectively.

Non-controlling interests

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition by acquisition basis, either at fair value
orf at the non-controling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acgquires's identifiable net assets.

Measurement period adjustments

The Group assesses the fair vaiue of assets acquired and finalises purchase pnce allocation within the measuremant
period following acquisition and in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. This includes an exercise to evaluate
other material separately identifiable intangible assets such as franchise agreements, favourable leases and order backlog.

The finalisation of purchase price allocations may result in a change in the fair value of assets acguired. In accordance
with IFRS 3 Business Combinations measurement period adjustments are reflected in the financial statements as if the
final purchase price allocation had been completed at the acquisition date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excass of, the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

Where the fair value of the consideration received is less than the fair valug of the acquired net assets, the deficit is
recognised immediately in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as a bargain purchase. Goodwill is
capitalised and subject to an impairment review at least annually and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

Intangible assets

Intangibla assets, when acquired separately from a business combination, include computer software and licences. Cost
comprises purchase price from third parties and amortisation is calculated on a straight fine basis over the assets’ expected
econamic lives, which varies depending on the nature of the asset. Licenses are amortised over the length of the licence
and software is amortised between 3-5 years.

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination include franchise agreements. These items are capitalised
separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or if the benefit of the intangible asset s obtained through contractual or
other legal rights and if its fair value can be measured reliably on initial recognition. Such assets are stated at far value
Franchise agreements have an indefinite useful life, therefore are not amortised.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful economic life are tested annually for impairment Amortisation is included within
net operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies {continued)
Property, plant and equipment

items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and less any recognised
impairment loss. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to
its working condition for its intended use. When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different usefui
lives those components are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Subsequent costs are
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic bensfits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation is charged to write assets down to their residual values over their estimated useful economic lives.
Depreciation is charged on a siraight-line basis over the following periods:

Leasehold improvements - shorter of the lease term or 10 years
Fixtures and fittings - 5 years

Computer equipment - 2-5 years

Freehold buildings — S0 vears

Land — indefinite life, not depreciated

Assets under construction - not depreciated.

The residual values and useful aconomic lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date. The gains and losses on disposal of assets are determined by comparing sales proceeds with the carrying amount
of the asset and are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

investment property
initial recognition

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Investment properties include properties
that are held as right-of-use assets. as well as properties ihat are owned by the Group.

Subsequent measuremant

Land and buildings are shown at fair value based on formal valuahons by external, independent valuers performed at least
every three years and updated each year for the Directors’ estimate of value Valuations are performed with sufficient
ragularity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Investment
property is not depreciated. Any surplus or deficit on revaluation is taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and is notincluded within underlying profit before tax.

Derecognition

Investment properties are derecognized either when they have been disposed of (i.e at the date the recipient obtaing
control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit 1s expected from their disposal.
Tha differance between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset Is recogniged in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the pertod of derecognition. The amcunt of consideralion to be included in the
gain or loss arising from the derecognitien of investment property is determinad in accordance with the requirements for
determining the transaction price under IFRS 15 Revenus from Contracts with Customers,

impairment of non-financial assets

Assets not subject to amortisation are tested annually for impairmant. or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs 1o sell and value n use. For the purposes of assessing impairment
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash generating units}.
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

Goodwill and franchise agresments acquired in a business combination are alfocated to each of the cash generating units.
For the purpose of impairment tasting. goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash
generating units ('CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The
graup of CGUs to which the goodwill and franchise agreements are aflocated (being groups of deslerships connected by
manufacturer brand) represents the lowest level within the enbity at which the goodwill and franchise agreements are
monitored for intemal management purposes.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present
location and condition are included and cost is based on price including delivery costs less specific trade discounts, spare
parts are valued at weighted average costs, Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less further costs to
be incurred to disposal. Provision is made for obsolete, sfow-moving or defective items where appropnate.

Inventories held on consignment are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet {net of value added taxes), with a
corresponding liability (including value added taxes) when the tenms of a consignment agreement and industry practice
indicale that the principal benefit of owning the inventory {the abiiity to seli it) and principal risks of ownership (stock
financing charges, responsibility for safekeeping and some risk of obsolescence) rest with the Group. Stock financing
charges from manufacturers and other vehicle funding facilities are presented within finance costs. Thesa charges are
expensed over the period that vehicles are funded.

The Group finances the purchase of new and used vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facilities provided by various
lenders including the captive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generally
have a maturity of 90 days or less. The Group is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the sale
of the vehicles that have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date. Amounts due to finance companies
in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade payables and disclosed under vehicle financing arrangements.
Related cash flows ara reported within cash flows from operating activities within the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows. Vehicle financing facilities are subject to finance house base rate (ar similar) interest rates. The interest incurred
under these arrangements is included within finance costs and classified as siock holding interest.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and cash in hand.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recoverad principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This classification is used where a sale is considered highly probable
Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value lass costs to seil.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less costs to sell. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell of an asset is recognised where it is not in excess of any cumulative
impairment loss which has been previously recognised. Non-curren! asseis are not depreciated while they are classified
as held for sale. Assets classified as held for sale are presented separately from other asset classes in the current assats
section of the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

On completion of the sale transaction, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset is recognised within Net Operating Expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period
of de-recognition.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and Initial measurement

Trade receivables are inifially recognised when they originated. Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or for services performed by the Group in the ordinary course of business. Cradit terms are less than one year,
as such they are recognised as current assets.

Adl other financial assets are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

On initial recognition, a financial asset {unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for a financial asset not at fair value reported in profit or loss, transaction costs that ara directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue, A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Financiat instruments {continued)}
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measureament

A financial asset is classified gither as being; measured subsequently at fair value (sither through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), or measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the Group's business
modal for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

All financiat assets of the Group are classified as measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent lo their initial recognition uniess the Group changes its business model
for managing financial assets in which case all affected ﬁnancml assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period foliowing the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at fair
value reported in profit or loss:

s itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to coliect contractuat cash flows; and
+ its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interast
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amartised cost using the effeclive interest methed. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairmant losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impaiments are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de-recognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expirs, or
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transfarred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain cantrol of the financial asset.

impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A
finaiwial assel is credit-inpared’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the eslimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred,

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is writlen off {sither partially or in full} to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assels or
sources of income that could generale sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject ta the write-of. However, financial
assels that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for
recovery of amounts due

The Group recogrises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortised cost.
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. Loss allowances
for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

Loss allowances for finance lease receivables are measured by reference to default events that are possible within 12
months of the reporting date on the basis that the credit risk since initial racognition has not been subject to significant
increase.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are measured using a simplified approach based on the lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date An asgessment of the lifetime ECLs is calculated using a provision matrix modei to estimate the loss rates
1o be applied to each trade receivabie category.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments {continued)
Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial habiities as measured at amortised cast The classification of financia® instruments s
determined at initial recognition in accordance with the substance of the contractua! arangement into which the Group
has entered.

Financial labilities measured at amortised cost inciude non-derivative financial liabrlities which are held at original cost,
less amortisation. Financial liabilites measured at amortised cost comprnise manly trade and other payables and
borrowings (see below for the separate accounting palicies for each specific financial liabil ty).

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assels and financiai liabilives are offset and the net amount presented in the Consalidated Balance Sheet when,
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it :ntends either to settle
them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settie the liability simultaneously.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures non-financial assets such as investmant properties, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair
value is the price that would be receved ta sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a liabtlity m an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date The far value measurementis based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or hability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their aconomic best interest A fair value measurement of a
non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and hest use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its h:ghest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropnate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value. maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and fiabilitios for which farr value 1s measured ui disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:

* Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) markel prices in active markets for identical assets or habilities

* Level 2 -~ Valuation techniques for which the lowest level inpul that Is significant lo the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable

* Level 3 — Valualion technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measuremeni is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Extemmal valuers are involved for vaiuation of investment properties and assets held for sale. At each reporting date. the
Directors consider movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed
as per the Group's accounting policies. For this analysis, the Directors consider the majar inputs applied in the latest
valuation by reviewing the information in the valuation computation to valuation reports and other relevant documents

The Directors, in conjunction with the Group's external valuers, alsc compare the change in the fair value of each asset
and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determingd classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained above

Fair-value retated disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assels that are measured at fair value or where
fair values are disclosed, are summarised in Note 26 ‘Fair Value Measurement’

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Ingremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in
share premium as a deduction from the proceeds.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)
Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Group’s shareholders are recogrised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Group 3 shereholders. Interim dividends are recognised wnen they are paid.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business,
These are classified as current liabilities if payment is due in one year or less. If payment is due at a later date they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Trade payables include the liabity for vehicles {inclusive of value added taxes) held on consignment with the
corresponding asset included within inventories (exclusive of value added taxes).

Borrowings

Borrowings comprise asset backed finance, morigages and bank borrowings; they are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred Borrowings are subsequently carnied at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts, which form an integral part of the Group's cash management, are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of presentation in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Bank overdrafts are
presented within cash and cash equivalents in current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Group has; a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be reguired to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the abligation If the effect is material provisions are determined by discounting the
expected fufure cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and,
when appropriate, the risks specific to the hability The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
in finance costs.

Dilapidation provision

The Group operates from a number of leasehokd premises and is typically required by the terms of the lease to restore
leased premises to their original condition on vacation of the premises at the end of the lease term. Estimates of dilapidaticn
costs are calculated in accordance with the specific remediation requirements slipulated in each lease contract. At the
point at which these remediation costs can be reliably estimated, a provision is recognised.

Restructuring (closed sites} provision

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised at the point when a detailed restructuring plan is in place and the Group
has either startad to implement the plan or has announced the main features of the plan to those affected. Restructuring
provisions include only direct expenditures necessarily entailed by the restructuring.

Revaenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration received or receivable as specified in a contract with a customer and
represents amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. Revenue
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue comprises sales and charges for vehicles sold and services
rendered during the period, excluding intercompany sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or service to a customer, as described below.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
Revenua recognition {continued)

Sale of motor vehicles, parts and aftersales services

The Group generates revenue through the sale of new and used motor vehicles and through the provision of aftersales
services in the form of vehicle servicing, maintenance, parts and repairs. The Group recognises revenue from the sale of
niew and used motor vehicles when a customer takes possession of the vehicle, at which point they have an obligation to
pay in fuil and as such control is considered to transfer at this point. The Group typically receives cash equal to the invoics
amount for most direct retail sales to consumers at the time the consumer takes possession of the vehicle. When the
consumer has taken out a finance agreement to purchase the vehicle, in most instances the Group receives payment fram
the finance company at the time the consumer takes possession of the vehicle. Payment terms on sales to corporate
custorners typically range from 7 to 60 days. The Group recognises revenue from the provision of aftersales servicas when
the service has been completed, at which point customers have an obligation to pay in full. The Group typically receives
cash equal 1o the invoice amount for most direct retail sales to consumers at the time the service has been completed

Payment terms an sales to corporate customers typically range from 30 ta 60 days.

Sale of warranty products

Income received in respect of warranty policies sold and administered by the Group is recognised over the period during
which a customer can exercise their rights under the warranty; as such, revenue is recognised over the pericd of the policy
on a straight line basis.

Commissicn income

The Group receives commissions when il arranges vehicle financing and related insurance products for its customers to
purchase its products and services, acling as agent on behalf of various finance and insurance companies Commissions
are based on agreed rates.

Where the Group acts as an agent on behalf of a principal, the associated income is recognised within revenue on
completion of the arranging of the various products (i.e., at the point at which control passes to the customer).

Certain commissions are received in advance of the customer buying the associated finance or insurance products from
the Group as agent. The advance commissions are paid upfront and typically relate to periods of two to three years.
depending on the arrangement. The advance commissions are recognised in revenue when sales of finance or insurance
products are mada. This can be over a year after the receipt of the advance.

There is not deemed to be a financing component because, being an agency arrangement, the timing of the recognition
of the commission income varies on the basis of the occurrence of future events that are not substantially within the control
of the customer or the Group. Consequently, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money, '

Rental income

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is recognised in revenue on a straight line basis
over the period of the lease. Rental income is not disclosed separately from revenue from contracts with customers in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income due to the immaleriality of this income stream.

Contract liabllities

Where the Group receives an amount of consideration in advance of compietion of parformance obligations under a
contract with a customer, the value of the advance consideration is initially recognised as a contact liability in liabilities
Revenue is subsequently recognised as the performance obligations are completed over the period of the contract (i.e ,
as control is passed to the customer). Contract liabilittes are presented within trade and other payables in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet and disclosed in Note 21 ‘Trade and Other Payables'.

Contract costs

The Group applies the pragtical expedient in paragraph 94 of IFRS 15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining
contracts as an expense when incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that the Group otherwise would have
recognised is one year or |@ss.

Transaction price allocation to remaining performance obligations

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information about remaining
performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue recognised from contracts with customers has been disaggregated inlo categories that depict how the nature,
amount, timing and uncartainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. This disclosure, as well as
the reconciliation between the disaggregated revenue disclosures and the revenue figures disclosed for each of the
Group's reporiable segments, is made in Note 5 'Segmental Information’.

Supplier income

The Group receives income from brand partners and other suppliers. The Group receives income from its suppliers based
on specific agreements in place, These are generally based on achieving certain objectives such as specific sales volumes
and maintaining agreed operational standards. This suppiier income received is recognised as a deduction from cost of
sales at the point when it is reasonably certain that the targets have been achieved for the relevant period and when
income can be measured reliably based on the terms of each reievant supplier agreement.

Supplier income that has been earned bul not invoiced at the balance sheet date is recognised in other receivables and
primarily relates to volume-based incentives thal run up to the period end.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and alf attached
conditions will be complied with. All such grants relate to expense items. The grant is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the pericds that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

The grant income is disciosed in Net Operating Expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Leases

Group as lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease habiity at the lease commencement date.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the intial amount of the iease hab ity adpusted for any
lease payments made at or befare the commencement date, plus any imtial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restora the underlying asset or the site on which it 1s located, less any
lease incentives raceived.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-ine method from the commencement date to the
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset ar the end of the lease tarm |In addition, the right-of-use asset
is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present valug of the lease payments to ba made over the lease term thal
have not been paid at the lease commencement date When calculating the present valus the lease liabi-ity 15 discounted
using the Group’s incremental borrawing rate because the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined
The incremental borrowing rate fer the Group 1s used as a proxy for the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate on the basis
that treasury functions are managed centrally and subsidiary entites’ access to facilities is via pooled, group-wide
arrangements.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liabiity comprise:

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the lease
commencement date; and

- lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option,

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasurad when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee or if the Group changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way. a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the nght-
of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced ‘o zefo
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
Leases {continued)
Group as tessee [continuod)

Short-term leases and leases of low-vaiue assels

The Group has elected not to recognise nght-of-use assets and lease habilities for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets Shori-term leases are those that do not contain a purchase option and have a lease term of 12 months or
less. Low value assets are those with a value below £5,000. The Group recognises on a straight-line basis over the lease
term the lease payments associated wih these leases in net operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

Group as fessor

The Group only acts as a lessar in the context of sub-lease arrangements When the Group 1s an intermediate lessor, it
accounts for its interests in the head iease and the sub-iease separately It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease
as being either a finance lease or an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
not with reference to the underlying asset To classify each sub-lease, an overall assessment is made as to whether the
lease transfers (o the lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership ingidental to ownership of the right-of-
use asset If this is the case, then tha lease s a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment,
the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the assat. If
a head lease i1s a short-term lease to which the Group applies the short-termn lease exemption described above, then it
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components. the Group applies IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to allocate the considaration in the contract

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term as part revenus in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Share-based payments

Prior to the sale to CAG Vega 2 Limited the Group operated a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans
through which the Group allowed employees to receive shares in the Company. The equity-settled share-based payments
were measured at fair value (calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market based performance vesting
conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based paymeant charge to be expensed was determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted and was recognised as an employee expense within underlying earnings, with a
corresponding increase in equity.

The share-based payment charge was recognised on a straight-ine basis over the vesting period {being the period over
which all vesting conditions are to be satisfied) An award subject to graded vesting was accounted for as though it were
multiple, separate awards, the number of awards being determined 1n direct correlation to the number of instalments in
which the oplions vest,

The share-based payment charga is based on the Group s estimate of the number of options that were expected to vest.
At each balance sheet date, the Group revised its estimates of the number of options that ware expected to vest based on
the non-market performance vesting conditions and service conditions. The Group's remuneration policy gave the
Remuneration Committee discretion to revise performance conditions to adjust for the impact of Group restructurings and
regrganisations on incentive outcomes The impact of any ravisions to original vasting estimates or performance conditions
was recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Social security contributions payable in connection with share options granted were considered to be an integral part of
the grant and were, therefore, treated as cash-settled transaclions. Fer cash settled share-based payments, the Group
racognised a liability for the services acquired measured intially at the fawr value of the Jiability. This liability was re-
measured at each balance sheet date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

When options were exercised, the Company issued new shares These shares were gifted to the Employee Benefit Trust
by the Company at nominal value The cost of these shares was recognised as a reduction to equity in the own shares
reserve. When the options were exeraised and the shares transferred to the employees, the cost on the own shares
reserve was transferred to equity, When options issuad by the Employee Benefit Trust were exercised the own shares
reserve was reduced and a gain of loss was recognised in reserves based on proceeds less weighted-average cost of
shares initially purchased now exercised.

Where shares oplions were forfeited, effective from the date of the forferture, any share-based payment charge previously
recognised in both the current and prior penods in relation to these options were reversed though the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive income with a corresponding adjusiment through the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
Net finance costs

The Group has no borrowing costs with respect to the acquisit on or construction of qualifying assets, therefore, no
borrowing costs are capitalised. Qualifying items of property. plant and equipment are cons'dered to be those which take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use These would include assats which are under construction
for penods in excess of a year, the Group’s dealership deveiopment programmes are not considerad to qualify

Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, lease liabilities, stock financing charges and other interest

Finance income
Finance income comprises Interest receivable on funds invested and finance lease receivabes. Interest iIncome is
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues using the effective interest method

Taxation

The taxation charge compnses corporation tax payable, deferred tax and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Current taxation

The current tax payable 1s based on the Group s taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expenditure that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items of income or expenditure that are never taxable income or tax deductible
expenditure. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the consclidated financial statements and their tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit Deferred
{axation is accounted for using the balance sheet tiability method

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assels are
recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that iaxable profits wiil be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and labilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and habilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax is provided on lemporary differences arising on investments :n subsidiaries, except for deferred tax liabilities
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differance is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utlised The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and are reduced o the extent that it 1s no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be reatised.

The Group's deferred tax balances are calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
batance sheet date and that are expected to apply in the period when the hability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred
tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except where 1t relates to items charged or credited directly to other
comprehensive income or equity. in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity

respactively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current lax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxabie entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention 1o settle the balances on a net
basis.

Pensions

The Group participates in a number of defined contribution schemes for its employees. A defined contribution pension
scheme is a pension plan under which the employer and employee pay contributions into a separate fund managed and
administered by a third party. The employer has nc legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay employees the benefits relating to their service and contributions in current and prior
periods.

Where the Group makes employer pension contributions, such contributions are charged to the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive lncome as they become payable in accordance with the rules of each scheme.
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2. Acccounting policies (continued)

Alternative performance measures

Non-underlying items

Certain items recognised in reported profit or loss before tax can vary significantly from year to year, therefore, these
create volatility in reported earmings which does not reflect the Greup's underying performance. The Directors believe that
the ‘underlying profit before tax’ and ‘underlying basic earmings per share’ measures presented provide a clear and
consistent prasentation of the underlying performance of the Group's an-gaing business for shareholders. Underlying profit
is not defined under IFRS, therefore, it may not be directly comparable with the 'adjusted’ profit measures of other
companies.

Non-underlying items are defined as follows

- Acquisition costs;
Profitsfiosses ansing on closure or disposal of businesses:

- Restructuring and recrgsnisation costs - these are cne-off in nature and do not relate to the Group's underlying
perfarmance;
Investment property fair value movements — these refiect the difference between the fair value of an investment
property at the reporling date and its carrying amount at the previous reporting date;
One-off tax items and pansion charges and
Asset impaiments.

Adjusted net debt
The Directors believe that the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases distorts the value of reported net debt. Therefore,
the measure of ‘adjusted net debt’ is used to present consistent, comparative information.

3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Except where disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consclidated
financial statements are consistent with those applied when preparing the consolidated financial statements for the 15
month period ended 31 March 2022

New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group

The following amendments to existing standards became effactive in January 2022 and have been adopted in the
cansolidated financial statements for the first ime during the year ended 31 March 2023.

+ Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3}
s+ Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)
«  Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to [AS 37)

impact on current period of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: Reference to Conceptual Framework

Paragraph 11 of IFRS 3 Business Combinations, continued to refer to the 1989 Framework, this has praviously not been
updated as this could have caused conflicls for entities applying IFRS 3 The changes in Reference to the Conceptual
Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3):

¢ Update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 1989 Framework;

« Addto IFRS 3 a requirement that, for transactions and other events within the scope of IAS 37 ar IFRIC 21. an
acquirer applies 1AS 37 or IFRIC 21 {instead of the Conceptual Framework) to identify the liabilities it has assumed
in a business combination;

+ AddioIFRS 3 an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The Group intends to use these practical expedients in future periods if and when they become applicable.
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3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

Impact on current period of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations
(continued)

Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeda before Intended Use

Amendments to the standard that prohibits deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an enlity recognises the proceeds from selling such items,
and the cost of producing those items, in profit or loss.

The Group intends to use these amendments in future periods if and when they become applicable.

Amendments to IAS 37 Pravisions; Contingent Liabilities and Cantingent Assats

An amendment to JAS 37 - Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract, to specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract
comprises the 'costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either be ingremental
costs of fulfiting that contract or an aliocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

The Group intends to use these practical expedients in future periods if and when they become applicable.

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations were in issue, but were not yet effactive at the balance sheet
date These have not yet been endorsed by the UK Endorsement Board, These standards have nol been applied when
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

It is not anticipated that application of the below will have a significant financial or disclosure impactin future penods.

Effective for

accounting periods

IFRS 17 lnsurance Contracts ~~ { —— ~©—™

- New standard replacing IFRS 4. Sets oul the principles for the recognition,

measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance coniracts. May 2017 1 January 2023
Amendments to IFRS 17 insurance Contracts

Narrow scope amendment W lhe hansilion requirements creating a policy option in

relation 1o the presentation of comparative information. June 2020 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

- Changes 1o the requirements in respect of the disclosure of accounting policies i February 2021 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates

and Errors :

- Clartfication of the definition of an accounting estimate and the circumsiances that i February 2021 1 January 2023
canstilule 2 change in astimate. :

Amentdments to IAS 12 Income Taxes

- Clarification of the application of ihe initial recognilion exemption to deferred tax
assets and liabilities that arise from a single transaction, May 2021 1 January 2023
Amendments to 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

- Clarification of the condilions required to be met in order to classify liabilites, notably
debt with covenants, as either current of non-current,

No earlier than
January 2020 5 January 2024
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lasse Liability in & Sale and Leascback

- Clarificalion of how a selier-lessae subsequently measures sale and leageback
transactions that salisfy the requiremenis in IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale

September 2022 1 January 2024

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
- Clarification of how condillons with which an enlity must comply within twelve months October 2022 1 January 2024
after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability
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4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumpticns about the future when applying the Group's
accounting policies (as detailed in Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies’) lo determine the amounts of assets, liabilibes, revenue
and expenses reported in the consclidated financial statements. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates.

The Directors regularly review these judgements, estimates and assumptions and any resulling revisions to accounting
eslimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised. If tha change in estimation affects future accounting
periods, the revision is recognised in the current and future periods.

Critical accounting jJudgements

The accounting judgements and assumptions (excluding those which alse involve estimates which are covered in the key
sources of eslimalion uncertainty section below) included in the consolidated financial statements which have a material
impact on amounts reported are as detailed below.

Determination of indefinite useful economic life

Goodwill and franchise agreements are inlangible assets acquired through business combinations. An asset is considered
to have an indefinite useful economic life if there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to
generate net cash inflows for the Group. The useful economic life of goodwill and franchise agreements is determined at
the point of initial recognition. Each franchise agreement is different; each contract being for varying durations. with varying
renewal or termination options, Previous franchise agreements acquired have historically either been renewed without
substantial cost or not had termination options exercised by the Group. This past experience, coupled with the strength of
the Group's relationships with brand partners, determines that these assets have indefinite useful sconomic lives.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The accounting estimates included in the consolidated financial statements which have a material impact on amounts
reported are as detailed below.

Goodwill and other intangibie asset impairment
Goodwill is deemed to have an indefinite useful economic life and is, therefore, not amortised, As a result, the Group
reviews goodwilt for impairment on at least an annual basis and more frequently where there are indicators of potential
impairment. The impairment review requires the value-in-use of each CGU to be estimated: these calculations are based
an a number of assumptions. Areas of significant judgement include:

- the estimation of future cash Aows

- the selection of risk and the estimation of risk adjustrent factors to be applied to cash flows

- the selection of an appropriate discount rate to calculate present valug

- the salection of an appropriate terminal growth rate.

The assumptions used in the impairment test are detailed in Note 13(c) 'Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’. The
assumptions relating to future cash flows, estimated useful economic lives and discount rates are based on forecasts and
are, thereforg, inherently judgemental. Future events could result in the assumptions used needing to be revised, changing
the outcome of the impairment test and resulting in impairment charges being recognised.

Inventory valuation

Invenlories are stated at the lower of their cost and their net realisable vatue (being tha fair valua of the motor vehicles
less costs to sell). Fair values are assessed using reputable industry valuation data which is based upon recent industry
activity and forecasts. Whilst this data is deemed representative of the current value of vehicles held in inventory it is
possible that the price at which the vehicles are actually sold will differ from the vehicles’ industry valuations. Where this
is the case, adjustments arise in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on the sale of vehicles held in
inventory.

Industry vatuations are sensitive to rapid changes in regulatory and market conditions that are difficult to anticipate. in lght
of the matenality of the inventory balance in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, this uncertainty is considered to represent
a key source of estimalion uncertainty. The inventory provision as at 31 March 2023 represents 5.1% of the gross inventory
balance (31 March 2022: 4 1%). This increase is due to a combination of the unusual market conditions leading up to and
during the year whereby used vehicle prices appreciated coupled with an expectation of lower pricing during the second
haif of 2023 triggered by a deterioration in economic conditions, notably consumer confidence. A 50bps (2022: 50bps)
change in this ratio would change the provision in the Consolidated Balance Sheet by approximately £2 mitlion (2022: £2.5
million). A 50bps movement represents a reasanably possible change 1o the provision ratio based on average movements
abserved over the previous three periods.
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5. Segmental Information

IFRS B Qperating Segments requires operaling segments to be consistent with the internal management reporting
provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the operating segments. The Group considers the Board of Directors to be the Chief Operating Decision
Makers,

The Group has identified its key product and service lines as being its operating segments because both performance and
strategic decisions are analysed at this level. The I[FRS 8 aggregation criteria have been met as a result of the Group's
key praduct and service lines sharing cormmon characteristics such as; similar types of customer for the products and
services, similar nature of the product and service offerings, similar methods used to distribute the products and provide
the services and simitar regulatory and economic environment. As a result of these criteria being satisfied, the Group’s
operating segments constitute one reportable segment (retail} and all segmental information has been disclosed as such.
The retail segment includes sales of new and used vehicles, together with the associated ancillary aftersales services of;
servicing, body shop repairs and parts sales.

The Group has concluded that rental income arising from investment properties does not meet the quantitative thresholds
required to constitute a reportable segment as defined in IFRS 8. Due to the non-material nature of these amounts, they
are combined with the retail segment rather than being disclosed separately. As a result, all of the Group's actvities are
disclosed within the one reportable segment — the retail segment.

Geagraphical information

Revenue earned from sales is disclosed by origin and is not malerially different from revenue by destination. Al of the
Group's revenue is generated in the United Kingdom.

Infermation about reportable segment

All segment revenue, profit before taxation, assets and liabilities are attributable to the principal activity of the Group being
the provision of car and commaercial vehicle sales, vehicle service and other related services

For tha year ended 31 March 2023 Revenue Gross profit

£'000 mix* £'000 mix*
New Vehicles 1422013 37.3% 152 644 347%
Used Vehicles 2,005,154 52.6% 127,567 280%
Aftersales 388,204 10.1% 159,862 36.3%
Interna; / Other (83,002) ; 710 ;
Total 3,732,368 100% 440,782 100%
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 Revenue Gross profit

£000 mix” £'000 mix*
New Vehicles 1565235 40.7% 125,228 27 4%
Used Vehicles 1.889 096 49.2% 147 598 32.3%
Aftersales 386,405 10.1% 184 012 40.3%
Internal / Otrer (79,854} - 440 -
Total 3,760,882 100% 457,278 100%

* Mix calculation exciudes internal/other.
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6. Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging / (crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 14)
Amortisation of other intangibles (note 13)

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale (note 7)
(Profit)floss on disposal of property plant and equipment

Profit on disposal of investment property (note 16)

Intangible assets impairment (note 13)

Loss on dsposal of goodwill (note 13}

Depreaation of right-of-use assets (note 15)

Profit on disposal and remeasurement of right-of-use assets and lease
habilities (note 15)

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets (note 15)

Incorme received from subleasing right-of-use assets (note 15)

7. Non-underlying item

Continuing operations

Acquisition costs

Net recognition of restructuring costs

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale
Profit on disposal of freehold properties

Profit on disposal of investment property

Loss on impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets
Loss an disposal of gaadwill

Other

Year ended 31

156 months ended

March 2023 31 March 2022
£'000 £'000
14127 15,408
169 a7s

- (86}
(1,721) 409
. (913)

6.634 -
561 .
21.471 18,947
(279) (1.843)
472 698
{185) (231)

Year anded 31 March

15 months ended 31

2023 March 2022
£000 £'000
(88} (3,476)
(2,514) (7.732)
- 86

2718 -

- 913
(6.634) .
(581} -
{1,159) -
{8,248) {10,209

Details of current and deferred tax arising 1n relation to all income and expenditure classified as Non-Underlying ltems are

disclosed in Note 11(b) 'Taxation.

Acquisition costs

See Note 13(a} "Goodwill and Other Intangibie Assets’ for further details of transactions giving rise to the acquisition costs

Restructuring costs

Restructuring costs consist of costs of £971,000 associated with the closure of a number of the Group's franchised
dealerships primarily resuiting from a review of the Group's portfolio following the acquisition of the Motorline businesses
during the prior period as well as the continuation of costs resulting from portfolio reorganisat.ons {15 months ended 31

March 2022: £1,467,000),

Also presented in restructuring costs are £765,000 (15 months ended 31 March 2022: £444,000) of systems enhancement
expenditure and costs associated with the integration of the Motorline businesses totatling £706,000 {15 months ended 31

March 2022: £669,000).

The prior period non-underlying items also included £5,031,000 incurred in association with the Group's change of

ownership.

Profit on disposal of freehold property

During the year the Group sold freehold properties for a combined profit of £2. 718,000
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7. Non-underlying items (continued)

Profit on disposal of Investment property

In February 2021 the Group sold the last two premises remaining in its investment property portfolio for a combined profit
of £813.000 Included within this profit on disposal is the lease premium received for transfer of title in the long-leasehold

premises,

Loss on impairment of goodwill and other tangible assets

Impairments of £6,634,000 have been recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023, these have been disclosed In

note 13 '‘Goodwilt and other intangible assets”,

No impaimients were recognised during the 15 month period ended 31 March 2022,

8. Auditor’s remuneration

During the period, the Group cbtained the following services from the Group's auditor:

Audit services:

- fees payahle to the Company's auditor for the audit of the parent
Company and consolidated financial statements

- audit of Group's subsidiaries

Fees payabie to the Company's auditor for other services:

- review of interim condensed consolidated financlal statements

Total auditor's remuneration

9. Employees and directors

a) Employee costs for the Group during the year
The aggregate remuneration of employees and directors was.

Wages and salaries

Sociat security contributions and similar taxes
Other pension costs

Share based payments

Employee costs are included in.

Cost of sales
Net operating expenses

43

Year ended 31

15 months ended

March 2023 31 March 2022
£'000 £'000

3485 290

257 196

- 39

642 525

Year ended 31 15 months ended
March 2023 31 March 2022
£000 ’ £000
190,814 213,485
24,118 22,639
5618 4,392

- 6,700

220,551 247,216

Yoaar ended 31 15 months ended

March 2023 31 March 2022
£'000 £'000
30,230 368,877
180,321 210,339
220,551 247,216
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9. Employees and directors (continued)

a) Employee costs for the Group during the period {continued)
The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:
Year ended 31 15 months ended

. March 2023 31 March 2022
Retail 5288 5 356

The average number of Group employees exciudes temporary and contract staff As al 31 March 2023 the Group had
5,340 employees {31 March 2022: 5376},

b) Directors' emoluments

Remuneration in respect of the Directors was as fallows:

Year ended 31 15 months ended

March 2023 31 March 2022

E'000 £000

Directors' emoluments 2 649 2,475
Other pension cosls 74 115
Gains on exercise of share options 5,249 633
7,972 3,223

During the year three Directors’ (15 months ended 31 March 2022° ane) participated in a defined contribution pension
scheme

During both the current and prior penods no Directors were granted options under the Group's Performance Share Plan
During the year, twa of the Directors (15 menths ended 31 March 2022. one) exercised share options granted in previous
periods {15 months ended 31 March 2022. £633,000)

The emo uments of twd Directors are paid by other Group companies. These D rectors are diractors of a number of fellow
subsidiaries in the Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited Group and it is not possible to make an accurate
apportionment of their emolumants in respect of each of the subsidiaries

The amounts set out above include remuneration in respect of the highest pad Dhrector as follows

Year ended 31 15 monthsa ended
March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £'000

Director' s emoluments 1,647 1.360

Other pension costs 69 87
Gains on exercise of share options o 3.650 633

5,266 2,080
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§. Employees and directors (continued)

c) Key management compensation

The following tablke detaits the aggregate compansation paid in respect of key management personnel — which comprises
both senior management who sit on the enlarged operational board and statutary directors.

Yearendad 31 1§ months ended
March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £'000

Wages and salaries 6,657 8,841
Social security contributions and similar taxes 2,706 1,318
Post-employment benefits 114 208
Gains on exercise of share options 5,666 -
Share-based payments 6,700
15,143 17,065

Details of the share option schemes are provided in Note 28 '‘Share-Based Payments'

10. Net finance costs

Year encded 31 15 months ended
March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £'000
Finance lease interest receivable (69) (95}
Stock financing charges and cther interest 7,729 5,845
Interest payable on lease liabilities 4,182 4177
Interest payable on bank borrowings 4,636 2,369
Net finance costs 16,488 1 2!296

11. Taxation

a) Taxation charge

Year ended 31 15 months anded
! March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
Current tax
Current tax on profit for the year 9,578 17,181
Adiustments in respact of prior period/years (262) 17
Total current tax charge 9,286 17,198
Deferred tax
Cngination and reversal of temporary differences (2.031) 1,043
Impact of change in tax rates 48 7,264
Adjustments in respect of prior pericdiyears 1,053 136
Total defarrod tax charge (note 24) (930) 8,443
Total taxation charge 8,356 25,641

The ingome tax charge in both the current year and prior period 1s attnbutable to profit from continuing operahons.
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11. Taxation {continued)

b} Reconciliation of taxation charge

The tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax :n the UK of 19% The differences are explained
below.

Year ended 31 March 15 months ended 31

2023 March 2022

£'000 % £'000 %
Profit before taxation 42918 .. Base0 |
:ngggnzlg :/a.;tatlon charge at corporation tax rate of 19% 8,154 19.0% 16,142  19.0%
Effects of:
Tax effect of tems not deductible for tax purposes ' 1272 3.0% 2,147 2.5%
(Profit} / toss on disposal of non-qualifytng assets (351) -0.8% (65) 0.1%
Super-deducton {380) -0.9% - 0.0%
Adjustments In respect of prior years 761 1.8% 153 0.2%
Group relief surrendered at less than 19% (602) -1.4% . 0.0%
Deferred tax charge relating to increase n tax rates 48 0.1% 7,264 8.5%
Deferred tax rate differential {546) -13% - 0.0%
Taxation charge and effective tax rate 8,358 19.5% 25,641 30.2%

1 Expenses nol deductible predomnantly consest of depreciat on chames on non-guatifying assets.

The analysis of the Group's effectve tax rate between underlying and non-underiying activities is as follows

Year ended 31 March 2023 15 months ended 31 March 2022
Non- Non-
Underlying underlying Total Underlying underiying Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Profit before taxation 51166 (8,248) 42918 95,169 (10.209) 84,960
Taxation 11229  (2873) 8356 19.031 8,610 25641
Effective tax rate 21.9% 34.8%  19.5% 20.0% (64.7%)  30.2%

Non-recurring items

The Group's total effective tax rate for the year ended 31 March 2023 of 19.5% was influenced by the effect of property
disposals, non-deductible lagal and professional fees and adjusiment in respect of the pricr period estimate of such fees
Excluding the impact of these items, the lotal effective tax rate for the period would have been 21.8% consistent with the
Group's underlying effective tax rate of 21.9%.

The total reported effective tax rate includes a deferred tax charge of £48,000 resulting from the remeasurement of opening
deferred tax balances following the substantive enactment of the planned increase in the standard rate of corporation tax
to 25% from April 2023, The comparative figures for the 15 month period ended 31 March 2022 included a deferred taxation
charge of £7 264,000 In both the current and prior period, the deferred taxation charges arising dus to the remeasurement
of opening deferred tax balances is presented in Non-Underlying ltems on the basis that these charges are a consequence
of legislative changes.

Future tax charges, therefore the Group’s effective tax rate, may be affected by factors such as acquisitions, dispasals.
restructuring and tax regime reforms.

In the Budget of 3 March 2021, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a 8% increase in the standard rate of
corporation tax, which will be applicable in the financial year beginning 1 April 2023, This change in the rate of corporation
tax to 25% will affect lhe amount of future tax payments for which the Group will be responsible. Being substantively
anacted, this rate change has already been reflected In the measurement of the Group's deferred tax assets and liabilities
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12. Dividends

An interim dividend n respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 totalling £20,000.000 (15 months ended 31 March 2022:
£6,931,000) and representing a payment of 24.58p per ordinary share {15 months ended 31 March 2022: 8 86p) in issue

at that time was paid in September 2022

Foliowing the Company’s change from a public listed company to a private limited company, & final dividend in respect of

the year ended 31 March 2023 was not proposed.

13. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Franchise
Goodwill agreements Software Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2021 50,878 77,523 3,137 131,538
Additions - - 84 84
Additions on acquisition 11,167 45715 - 58,882
Disposals . - {15) {15)
At 31 March 2022 62,045 123,238 3,206 188,489
Additions on acquisition 2.000 - - 2,000
Disposals {561) - - (561)
At 31 March 2023 63,484 123,238 3,206 189,928
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2021 9,495 - 2,510 12,005
Charge for the period - - 375 azs
Disposals - - {15) {15)
At 31 March 2022 9,495 - 2,870 12,366
Charge for the year - - 169 169
Impairment 6,330 304 - 6,634
At 31 March 2023 15,826 304 3,039 19,168
Net book vaiue
At 1 January 2021 41 383 17,523 827 119,533
Al 31 March 2022 52,550 123,238 336 176,124
At 31 March 2023 47,659 122,934 167 170,760

Disposal of Kia Franchisas

Following the sake of the Group's Kia franchises, goodwill attributed to Kia of £0 6m was disposed of in the year ended 31

March 2023.

a) Acquisitions — current year

On 9 January 2023, Marshall Motor Group Limited acquired the trade and assets of a Jaguar Land Rover dealership in
Leicester. This acquisition, by extending representation with existing brands in strategicalty imponiant territories, is part of

the Group's stated strateqy to grow further scale wiih existing brand partners in new geographic territories.

The estimated identifiable assets and liabilitios at the date of acquisition are stated at their provisional fair values are set
out below. The goodwill arising on these acquisifions 1s attributed to the expected synergies and benefits associated with

the increased brand representation
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13. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continusd)

a) Acquisitions - current year (continued)
The fair value of the net assets at the date of the acquisition are as set out below

Neat book value Fair value of
of assets Fair value net assets
acquired adjustments acquired

£000 £000 £'000
Property, plant and equipment 78 - 78
Right-of-use assets 1,672 - 1672
inventories 3,594 - 3,554
Trade and other payables {499) - {499)
Lease liabilities (1.672) - {1.672)
Net assets acquired 31173 - 317
Goodwiil 2,000 - 2,000
Total cash consideration 5173 - 5173

The results of this dealership have been consolidated into the Group’s rasults from the relevant date of acquisition. For
the penod from acquisitien to 31 March 2023, the revenue and the profit before tax generated by this dealership was
immatenal in the context of the Group's revenues and profit before tax.

{f the acquisition had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting pencd in which the acquisitions occurred (1 April 2022),
on a pro forma basis, the change in revenue and profit before 1ax of the combed Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 wauld have been immaterial In the context of the Group.

b) Acquisitions - prior period

On 24 May 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of two Jaguar Land Rover dealerships in Cheltenham and
Gloucester. On 30 June 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of a Nissan dealership in Leicester. These
acquisitions, by extending representation with exist-ng brands in strategicatly important territories, are par of the Group's
stated strategy to grow further scale with existing brand partners in new geographic territories.

The estimated identifiable assets and liabilities at the dates of acquisition are stated at their provisional fair values as set
out below. The goodwill arising on these acquisitions is altributed to the expected synergies and benefits associated with
the increased brand representation.

The fair value of the net assets at the date of the acquisition are as set out below
Net book value of Fair value Fair value of net
assets acquired adjustments assets acquired

£'000 £000 £000
Property, plant and equipment 7.730 {27} 7703
Right-of-use assets 370 125 495
Inventories 3.028 - 3028
Trade and other payables (315) {204} (519)
Deferred tax liabilities - {371) (371)
Leass liabilities (370) - (370)
Provisions (125) {125} {250)
Net assets acquired 10,318 (602} 9,716
Goodwill 334 602 936
Total cash consideration 10,652 - 10,652

The results of these dealerships have been consolidated into the Group's results from the relevant date of acquisiion For
the period from acquisition 10 31 March 2022, the revenues and the losses before tax generated by these dealerships were
immaterial in the contaxt of the Group's revenues and profit before tax.

if the acquisitions had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting pericd in which the acquisrtions occurred (1 January

2021), on a pro farma basis, the change in revenue and profit before tax of the combined Group for the 15 months ended
31 March 2022 would have been immaterial in the context of the Group.
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13. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

b) Acquisitions ~ prior period (conlinued)

On 14 October 2021, the Group acquired the entire ssued share capital of Motorline Holdings Limited, a leading multi-
franchise dealer group of companies headquartered in Canterbury and operating across Kent, West Sussex, Surrey,
Berkshire. Bristol. South Wales and the West Midiands This acquisition is in line with the Group's strategy, which includes
growing scake with its chosen brand partners

The estimated identifiable assets and habilties at the date of acquisition are stated at their provisional fair value as set out

below The goodwlill arising on acquistion is attributed te the expected synergies and benefits associated with the

increased brand repregentation and extends the Group's geographic footprint into a further eight counties with the Group
now having representation in 37 counties in England and Wales.

Net book Fair value Fair value of net

value adjustments assets acquirad

£'000 £'000 £000
Intangible assets - 45,715 45715
Property, plant and equipment 28,800 - 28,800
R:ght-of-use assets 119,830 - 119,830
Inventaries 96,423 {3.101) 93,322
Trade and other recelvables 31,414 {699) 30,7145
Cash and cash equivalents 20,300 - 20,300
Trade and other payablas (140,231} (1,406) (141,637)
Bank loans (8,300). - (8,300)
Prowvisions (251) - (251)
Lease liabdites (118,926} - (118,926)
Current tax #abilties (941} - (941)
Deferred tax liabilities (287) {14 571) {14,858)
Net assets acquired 27,8 25,938 53,768
Goodwill 36,169 (25,938} 10,231
Total cash consideration 64,000 - 64,000

The results of the Matorine yiuup of cumpanies have been consclidated into the Group's results from 14 Qctober 2021
For the period from acquisition to 31 March 2022, the Motorline group of companies generated revenue of £425,580.000
and a loss before tax of £37,000.

If the acquisition had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting period 1n which the acquisition occurred {1 January
2021}, on & pro forma basis, the change in revenue and profit before tax of the combined Group for the 15 months ended
31 March 2022 would have been an increase of £1,108,689,000 and £10,921 000 respectively.

Transaction costs arising on acquisitions in the period totalled £3,476,000 These costs have been recognised in net

operating expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and are part of operating cash
flows in the Condensed Consclidated Cash Flow Statement
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13. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

¢} Impairment testing

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwili and franchise agreements are allocated to a cash generating unit (*CGU"),
ar to the smallest group of CGUs where 1t i1s not possible to apportion the goodwill or intangible assets at the individual
CGU level. Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill i1s aliocated represents the lowest level withun the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for management purposes Goodwill and intangible assels arising on business
combinations are allocated 10 CGUs by determining which CGU 1s expected to benefit from the synergiss of the business
caombination.

The Group's CGUs are groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand The allocation of goodwill and indefinite
lived intangible asgets to the CGU groups is as follows:

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Franchise Franchise
Goodwill  Agreements Goodwill Agreements
£000 £000 £'000 £'000
Volkswagen Group* 20,657 52,220 20,657 52,220
BEMW/MINI 1,461 8,345 1,481 8,345
Jaguar/Land Rover 10,568 14,356 8,568 14,358
Mercedes-Benz/Smart 11,182 19,201 11,182 19,201
Lexus/Toyota - 20.061 4 696 20,365
Hyundai 1,589 7,219 1,589 7.219
Other 2,202 1,530 4,397 1,530
Total 47,659 122,934 52,560 123,228

“Volkswagen Group includes the Volkswagen, Audi, SKODA and SEAT brands

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable and a polential impainrment may be required. Impairment reviews have
been performed as at 31 March 2023,

Valuation basis

The recoverable amount of the Group's CGUs 15 determined by reference to their value-in-use to perpetuity calculated
using a discounted cash fiow approach, with a pre-tax discount rate applied to the projected, risk-adjusted pre-fax cash
flows and terminal value. Where higher. the fair value of groups of CGUs, less costs of disposai, is taken as the recoverable
amount.

Period of spacific projected cash flows

The value-in-use of each CGU is calculated using cash flow projections for a five-year period; from 1 April 2023 to 31
March 2028. These projections are devaloped from the Board approved budget for the year ending 31 March 2023. The
key assumptions in the forecasts on which the cash flow projections are based relate to expectations of sales volumes
and margins and expectations around changes in the operating cost base. The assumptions made are based on the
Directors' current understanding of the current macro-economic context and outlook, past experience adjusted for
expected changes and external sources of information. The cash flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to
maintain the Group's dealership network but exclude any growth capital expenditure projects to which the Group was not
committed at the reporting date.

Discount rate
The cash flow projections have been discounted using a rate derived from the Group's pre-lax weighted average cost of
capital adjusted for industry and market risk The discount rate used is 12 0% (2022: 7.2%).

Terminal growth rate

The cash flows after the forecast period are extrapolated into the future over the useful economic life of the group of CGUs
using a steady or dedining growth rate that is consistent with that of the product and industry. Terminal growth rates are
based on the Directors’ estimate of fulure. long-term, average growth rates These cash flows form the basis of what is
referred to as the tenminal value

The growth rate to perpetuity applied in the value-in-use calculations o arnve at a terminal value is 2% (2022: 2%)
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13. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

c) Impairment testing (continued)

Conelusion

Under the base case, the Graup's CGUs all have significant headroom in respect of the carrying value of goodwill and
intangible assets with the exception of Lexus/Toyata and Nissan. The Nissan CGU is included in the “Other” CGU Group.
Goodwill of £4.7m is assigned to the Toyota/Lexus CGU and goodwill of £1.6m Nissan is assigned 1o the Nissan CGU.

Toyolad exus

The Toyota & Lexus franchises were sold, along with the associated assets and liabilities on 30 June 2023. The
consideration included £20.1m in raspect of goodwill. Consequently an impairment of £5.0m was recorded at 31 March
2023 in grder to reduce the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets to the consideration value. This impairment
charge is split between £4.7m of Goodwill and £0.3m of intangible assets held in relation to these franchises. No other
material impaiments or write-downs have been identified in respect of the Toyota / Lexus assets.

Nissan

Due to the increase in the discount rate an impaimment has arisen. Therefore at 31 March 2023 the Group recorded a non
cash impaimment charge of £1.6m against goodwill. The other net assets related to the Nissan franchises are expacted to
be recoverable at carrying value in the ordinary course of business.

The Group calculates ils recoverable amount as the higher of value in use or fair value less cost of disposal less the CGUs
carrying value at 31 March 2023. The amount by which the Group’s CGUs recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amoint
is £293m, even in a worst case scenario there would continue to be sufficient headroom far the Group.

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions

Impairment testing is dependent on estimates and judgements, particularly as the conclusions relate to the forecasting of
future cash flows, the discount rates selected and expected long-term growth rates.

The Group has performed a sensilivity analysis an the impairment tests under the base case using four scenarios;
*  discount rate changes by +/- 100 basis points; and
* terminal value growth rate changes by +/- 50 basis points.

None of these sensitivity cases would result in an impairment against any CGU.

In order to assess the possibility of future impaimments, the Group has performed additiorai scenarios analysis, using the
foracasis prepared to suppert the Directors’ consideration of the going concern basis of preparation. The scenhario cases
are as follows:
* A down side case in which the overhead savings/cost mitigations anticipated from the Group's on-going
investment in systems and process, alongside other cost reduction measures, are not delivered to plan with a
FBT impact of £6.6 million and £17.7 million in the years ending 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 respectively.
+ A down side case in which a prolonged economic downturn results in a 10% reduction in revenue for the year
ending 31 March 2024 and a 5% reduction in revenue for the year ending 31 March, triggering a PBT reduction
of £18.0 million and £19.7 million in the years ending 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 respectivaly.
¢ A worst case combining the impact of both of the above down side cases.

The downside cases do nol assume any cost mitigation or cash conservation actions, for example restructuring
programmes or the deferral of capital expenditure, which could be enacted if the circumstances envisaged by these
scenaros were ta occur

None of these scenario cases would result in the recognition of an impaimment against any CGU.
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14. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold Asgsets

land and Leasehold Plant and under

bulidings improvements equipment construction Total

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
Bafance at 1 January 2021 138,514 28,791 48,518 2059 217,882
Additions at cost 23,688 . 534 6,065 8,246 38,533
Additions on acquisition 25,002 5,985 £516 - 36,503
Disposals 617) (809) {6,954) {687) {9,167)
Transfers 4,953 397 1,415 {6.765) -
At 31 March 2022 191,540 34,798 54,580 2,853 283,751
Additions at cost 145 415 6,927 4,270 11,757
Additions on acquisition - - 78 - 78
Disposals {3.731) {1,886) {2,757) (371) {8,745)
Transfers 2,065 839 610 (3.514) -
At 31 March 2023 190,019 34,1686 59,418 32,38 286,841
Accumulated deprociation and
impairment
Balance at 1 January 2029 14,769 10 060 34,750 - 59,579
Charge for the period 3.090 3774 8544 - 15.408
Disposals (73) {449) {5 960) - (6.482)
At 31 March 2022 17,788 13,385 3734 - 68,505
Charge for the year 3.196 3 485 7 446 . 14,127
Disposals (540) __ {857) B (2453 (3,850)
At 31 March 2023 . 20,442 16,111‘3 42,327 - 78,782
Net book value
At 1 January 2021 123,745 18,731 13,768 2059 158,303
At 31 March 2022 173.754 21.413 17,226 2883 215,246
At 31 March 2023 169,577 18,153 17,091 3,228 208,059

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had capital commitments totaliing £17,257,000 {31 March 2022: £3 321,000} relating to
ongoing construction projects.

b2



OocuSign Envelope ID: 77CFA54F-0BBC-4706-BDEC-C80ATSE174 1L

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15. Leases
a} Group as lessee

The Group has lease contracts for land and buildings and for vehicles. Leases of vehicles have an average term of three
yoars. Leases of land and buildings have an average term of between 20 and 25 years and can include extenaion,
termination and purchase options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis, therefore, contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions.

In determining the lease term, consideration is made of all facts and circumstances that create an econamic incentive to
exercise an extension or purchase option, or to not exercise a termination oplion. Extension options (or periods after
termination options} are only included in the lease term, therefore, balances recognised, if the lease is reascnably certain
to be extended (or not terminated). Specific consideration is given to; the existence of significant penalties to terminate (or
not extend), the residual value of any leasehold improvements, historical occupancy trends, the importance of the
underlying asset to the Group's operations and the costs and business disruption required to replace the leased premises.

The following are amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Year ended 31 15 months ended
March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £000
Depraciation of right-of-use assets 21,471 18,047
Loss#{profit) on disposal on dispasal and remeasurement of right-of-use assets 560 (1.843)
and lsase liabilities )
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 472 698
Expenses relating to short-term leases 436 504
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 841 908
Interest payable on lease liabilities ) 4,192 4177

Total amount racognised In Income Statement 27,972 23,389

The Group had total cash outflows in respect of leases in tha‘ year of £19,643,000 (15 months ended 31 March 2022:
£25,314,000). The Group also had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of £5,081,000 (15 months
ended’31"Maich” 2022 "£134;225°000)
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15. Leaseés {continued)

a) Group as lessee (continued)

Set out below are the carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year

Land and Plant and

buildings equipment Vehicles Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2021 154,656 - 672 155,328
Additions 13613 - 376 13,989
Additions on acqu sition 119,613 590 122 120,325
Disposals (7871} - (462) {8,133)
Remeasurement 474 - (50) 424
At 31 March 2022 280,685 690 658 281,933
Additions 3,408 - - 3,408
Additions on acquisition 1,672 B i} 1672
Disposals {2,785) - (296) (3.081)
Remeasurament {5,042) - - (5,042)
At 31 March 2023 277,938 590 362 278,890
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 56,042 - 454 56,496
Charge for the period 18.567 51 319 18,947
Disposals (7671 - (462} (8,133)
impairment 698 - - 698
At 31 March 2022 67,636 61 311 68,008
Charge for the year 21,471 122 271 21,864
Disposals (2,788) - (296) (3,081)
Impairment 472 - - 472
Remeasurement 2,905 - - 2,805
At 31 March 2022 89,699 183 286 90,168
Net hook value
At 31 March 2022 213,048 529 347 213,925
At 31 March 2023 188,229 407 78 188,722
Impairments

Six sites were closed during the year. The premises out of which these dealerships operated became vacant on the
cessation of trade, however, certain lease commitments persist. Therefore, the right-of-use assets for these leases have
been fully impaired. This impairment loss of £472,000 (15 month period endad 31 March 2022 £698,000) was recognised
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in Net Operating Expenses.

Lease liability maturity analysis
The maturity analysis of the Group's lease liabilities is as follows:

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £000
Withn 1 year 19,492 46,867
Between 1 and 5 years 64,777 69,036
After 5 years 101,302 93,368
Total lease liabilities 185,571 209,271
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16. Leases (continusd)
a) Group as lessee {conlinued}

Analysis of lease payments

The percentages in the table below reflact the cumrent proportions of lease paymants that are either fixed or variable.
There are no variable payments that are independent of an index ar a rate

Year anded 31 March 2023

Lease contracts
number Fixed payments % Variable payments %

Property leases with payments hnked to :nflation 83 . 58%,
Property leases with fixed payments 86 41% -
Vehicle leases 117 1% -

286 42% 58%

15 months ended 31 March 2022

Lease contracts
number  Fixed payments % Variable payments %

Property leases with payments linked to inflation 83 . 56%
Property leases with fixed payments B4 43% -
Vehicle leases 146 1% -

M) 44% 56%

b) Group as lessor — finance leases

The Group has non-cancellable leases as intermediate lessor of leases for properties, The terms of these leases vary.
The foliowing are amounts recagrised in the Consoiidated Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Year ended 31 15 months ended

March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000

Income received from subleasing nght-of-use assets {188) (231)

Finance income on netinvestment in leases {69) {95)

Total amount recognised {264) (328)

Future mimmurm lease payments receivabte for property under non-cancellable finance leases are set out below'

15 months
Year ended 31 ended 31 March
March 2023 2022
£000 £000
Within 1 year 185 185
Between 1 and 2 years 185 185
Between 2 and 3 years 185 185
Between 3 and 4 years 185 185
Between 4 and 5 years 185 185
After 5 years 552 737
Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 1477 1,662
Unearned finance income {287) (357)
Net Investment in the lease 1,490 1,305
Current {note 19) 122 115
Nan-current 1,068 1,190
Total finance lease receivable 1,190 1,308
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16. Investment property

Fair value at 1 January 2021
Disposals
Fair value at 31 March 2022 and March 2023

Freehold land Right-of-uge

and buildings asset Total
£'000 £'000 £'000

438 1,660 1,498

(438) {1,060)  (1.498)

The properties wera rentad out to third parties up until the point of their disposal in February 2021 No rental iIncome was
recognised in the year {15 months ended 31 March 2022 £30,000). There were no restrictions on the Group's ability to

dispose of the investment properties or use any tunds arising on disposal.

17. Inventories

Inventories held for resale
Less: provisions
Inventories

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £000
531 151 465,219
(27.311 {19,172)
503,834 446,047

Inventaries hetd for resale include new and used vehicles held for resale, vehicie parts and other inventory As at 31 March
2023, £460,766,000 (31 March 2022: £412,973,000) of finished goods ware held under vehicle financing arrangements

{see Note 21 'Trade and Other Payables').

Inventory recognised in cost of sales during the year as an expense totalled £3 213 milion {year ended 31 March 2022

£3,082 mitlion).

18. Trade and other receivables

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables

Other receivables

Amaunts due from related underntakings (note 30)
Prepayments

Finance lease receivable (note 15)

Trade and other receivables

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
87,552 66,656
45834 41,308
6.863 214
7,298 20,385
122 115
147,669 128,688

Other recewvables include accrued supplier income of £12,471,000 (31 March 2022: £14,805,000) Mere information in
respect of principal risk management is prov'ded in Note 25 ‘Financial Instruments — Risk Management'.

All financial assets included within trade and other receivables are held at amortised cost. The carrying amount of trade

and other receivables approximates fair value
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19. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
Cash at bank and in hand 47 798 27 698

Cash and cash equivalents are held at amortised cost. Fair value approximates carrying value.

Cash at bank earns interast at floating interest rates determined by reference to short-term benchmark rates.

20. Assets classified as held for sale
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £000
Non-current assets held for sale
Freehold land and buildings .
1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 - 703
Disposals (703)

At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022

Following the closure of two of the Group's deaterships in October 2020, the decision was taken to seli the freshold
properties owned by the Group out of which these dealerships previously operated, As a result, the freehold properties
were reclassified as held for sale and transferred from property, ptant and equipment into current assets. On
reclassification, the freehold properties were measured at the lower of their existing carrying value and fair value less costs
to sell at the date of reclassification (fair value was determined by a desktop valuation from Chartered Surveyors). No
Imparments was required as fair value less costs to sell exceeded the assels’ carrying value.

These properties were subsequently sold in February 2021 Profits on disposal of assets classified as held for sale are
included in Note 7 "Non-Underlying Rems’

21, Trade and other payables
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
Current - trade and other payables
Trade payabies.
- vehicle financing arrangements 458 684 412,973
- other trade payabies 192,326 157,333
Contract liabil:tes 1,399 13,577
Amounts owed to related undertakings (note 30) 3827 38
Other tax and social security payable 6,449 7.576
Other payables 20,233 14,217
Accruals 27,450 45,012
Total current trade and other payables 710,368 550,726

All financial Hiabilties included within current trade and other payables are held at amortised cost, carrying value is a
reasonable approximation of fair value.

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Non-current - other payables £'000 £000
Contract liabilities 14,042 12,092
Total non-current other payables 14,042 12,092
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21. Trade and other payables (continued)

Vehicle financing arrangements

The Group finances the purchases of new and used vehicle inventaries using vehicle funding facilities provided by vanous
lenders including the captive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generally
have a maturity of 80 days or less and the Group is normally required 10 repay amounts outstanding on the sarlier of the
sale of the vehicles that have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date.

Amounts due to finance companies in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade payables and disclosed under
vehicle financing arrangements. Related cash flows are reporting within cash flows from operating activities within the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Vehicle financing facilities are subject to fioating interest rates linked to the Bank of England Basa Rate (or equivalent
finance house base rates). The interest incurred under these agreemaents is included within finance costs and classified
as stock holding interest.

Contract liabilities
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £000

OEM contributions 37 130
Commission income 1,362 13,731
Service packages 14,042 11,808
15,441 25,669

Contract liabilities include OEM contributions received in advance from manufacturers for which the Group acts as
principal. Movemenis on these balances during the period were as follows:
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £'000
At 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 130 310
Deferred during the year 3 6
Recognised as revenue during the year (96) {198)
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 37 130

Contract liabilities include commission income received in advance from the various finance and insurance companies for
which the Group acts as agent. Movements on these balances during the period were as follows:

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£°000 £'000
At 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 13,731 22,069
Deferred during the year 1,837 12,149
Recognised as revenue during the year {14,206) {20,487)
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 1,362 13,731

Contract liabilites include service packages received in advance frem customers for which the Group acts as principal.
Movements on these balances dunng the penod were as follows:
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
At 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 11,808 5.885
Deferrad durnng the year 16,807 20,735
Recogmised as revenue during the year (14,573) (14.812)
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 14,042 11,808
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22, Loans and borrowings

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

Nominal and Nominat and
book valua book valug
£000 £'000
Current loans and borrowings

Mortgages 1,417 1,428
1,417 1,428

Non-current loans and borrowings
Asset backed financing {36) .
Mortgages 8,811 10,683
8,775 10,683
Total loans and borrowings 10,192 12,111

Montgages comprise amounts borrowed from commercial financial institutions and are secured by fixed charges over
specified property assets of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

More information in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 26 ‘Financial lnstruments — Risk
Management'.

Committed facllities

The Group has a revoiving credit facility of £60,000,000 of which £nil was drawn at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022: £nil).
Of this facility £25,000,000 is provided as an overdraft, with the balance being available to draw on demand. This facility
is available for general corporate purposes including acquisitions or working capital requirements.

The facility is secured by cross guarantees granted by certain members of the Group. The current facility is available until
September 2024,

Fair values

The carrying amount of current loans and borrowings approximaltes fair value.

The carrying amounts and fair values of non-current loans and borrowings are as below. The fair values are based on
cash flows discounted using the prevailing rates,

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount valug amount value

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Martgages 8,775 7,583 10,683 10,114

Interest rate profile of borrowings

All loans and borrowings are subject to floating rates of interest that are determined by reference to official market rates.
The Group s various morigages are subject to interest rates linked to Bank Base Rates, the ravolving credit facility paid
interest is linked to SONIA,
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22. Loans and borrowings (continued)
Maturity profile of borrowings

The Group's borrowings have the fellowing maturity profile;
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £000
Within 1 year 1,381 1,384
Between 1 and 5 years €.519 5,668
After 5 years 2,292 5,059
Total loans and borrowings 10,192 12,111

More information in respect of principal risk management is provided 1n Note 25 ‘Financial Instruments — Risk
Management',

23. Provisions

Dilapidations Closed sites Tax Other Total

£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 April 2022 3,121 243 - 1,747 5111
Amount provided in the year 1,288 1,571 - 485 3,344
Amount released in the year (199) {350) - - (58%)
Amount utilised in the year (34) (972) - - {1,00%)
As at 31 March 2023 4,178 452 - 2,232 6,860

Pravisions are not discounted, the discounted amount arising from the passage of time and any change in the discount
rate would be immaterial to the Group.

Provisions have been allocated between current and non-current as follows:
31 March 2023. 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
Current 6,026 3710
Non-current 834 1,401
Total provisions 6,860 5,111

Dilapidations and closed sites
The Group manages its portfolio carefully and either closes or sells sitas that no longer fit with the Group’s strategy When
sites are closed or sold, provisions are made for any residual costs or commitments.

The Group operates from a number of leasehold premises under full repairing leases. The provision recognises that repa rs
are required to put the buildings back into the state of repair reguired under the leases.

Other

Other provisions include a total amount of £1,786,000 (31 March 2022: £1,167,000) in respect of the Group's estimated
financial exposure under open insurance claims and for potential cutput VAT payable arising from uncertain VAT treatment
of specific vehicle purchases. Conclusion of these open posiions 15 anticipated during the coming year.

Contingent liabilities

The Company and its subsidianes are, from time to time party to disputes, claims, and other potential liabilities which
arise in the ordinary course of business. The Directors do not anticipate that any of the current matters will give rise o
settlements, ether individually or in aggregate, which will have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial
position.
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24, Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 1s as below

Deferred tax liabilities:

- Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months (note 24a)
- Defarred tax asssts to be offset against liabilities (note 24b)

Net defarred tax liabilities

The mavement on deferred tax balances is as follows:

At 1 Aprit 2022 and 1 January 2021

Deferred tax acquired

income statement charge (note 11)
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022

a) Deferred tax liabilities

The movermnent in deferred tax liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within
the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

As at 1 January 2021
Acquisitions

Chargedi(crediled) 1o the income
statement - current period

Charged to the income stalement - prior
year

Impact of corporation tax rate reduction
reversal

At 31 March 2022

Acquisitions

Charged/{credited) to the income
statement - curent year

Charged to the income statement - prior
period

Impact of corparation tax rate increase

At 31 March 2023

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

£'000 £000
(95,999) (98,934)
50.542 52,547
(45,487) (46,387)

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
(46,387) {22,715)
- (15,228)

930 (8,443)
(45,457) (46,387)

Fixed assets Assets
Accelerated acquiredon a previously Intangible

tax business Roll over qualifyingfor  assets and Right -of-use
depraciation combination relief |BAS goodwill assol Total
£'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
862 5,769 1,323 164 15,953 17,885 42,056
384 4,483 - 11,150 29,934 45,051
{229) {374) - (53 248 {961) {1,369)
538 (23) - 1 516
KE{0) 1.697 418 35 5117 4,143 11.780
1,925 11,552 1,741 146 32,468 51,102 98,934
- - - - 1.270 1.270
1.240 {394) - (68) 201 (7.513) {B.534)
952 - - - 12 114 1,078
- - - 1.251 1.251
4,17 14,158 1,741 78 32,881 46,224 95,899
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24. Deferred tax assets and labilities (continued)
b) Deferred tax assets

The movement in deferfed tax assets during the year, without taking :nto consideration the offsetting aof balances within

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows.

Other

Lease temparary
Capltal losses llabilities differences Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 E'000
As at 1 January 2021 230 18,642 489 19,341
Acquisitions 20,730 1,020 30.750
(Charged)/credited to the income stalemen - current period 8 (1,196) (1.252) (2,440}
(Charged)/credited to the income statement - prior year 12 17 252 381
impact of corporation 1ax rate reduction reversal 79 4,341 05 4515
At 31 March 2022 32_9 51,534 684 §2 547
Acquisitions 1,270 1270
{Charged)/credited to the income statement - curren! year (133) {5.068) 606 4,506)
{Charged)/credited 1o the income statement - prior period i) BY (62) 26
Impact of corporation tax rale increrse 1174 a0 1204
At 31 March 2023 185 48,999 1,348 50,542

Deferred tax assets are recognised for 1ax lass carry forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit

through future taxable profits is probable

31 March 20223

31 March 2022

Unrecognised Unrecognised
deferred tax daferted tax
Tax losses asset Taxlosses asset
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000

Trading losses
Available indefinitely 187 47 187 47
At year and 187 47 187 47
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26. Financial instruments - risk management

a) Financial instruments by category

The Group's principal financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts and loans and
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to manage the Group's funding and liquidity requirements.
The Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as trade recaivables and trade payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The table below analyses financial instruments by assets type. All financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost in both
the current and prior periods.
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £000
Assets as per the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Finance lease receivables 1,190 1,305
Trade&nd other receivables excluding prepayments and finance lease receivables 140,249 108,178
(C?::\ anz:l cash equivalents {note 19) 47,798 27,698
Total financial assets 188,237 137,181
Liabilities as per the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Loans and borrowings (note 22) 10,192 12,111
Lease liabilities {note 15} 185,571 209,271
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities (note 21} 704,602 629,573
Total financial liabllities 900,368 850,955

For all financial assets and habilities, fair value equails carrying value except for long-term borrowings as disclosed in Note
23

b} Risk management

The Group's activities expose it to the following financial risks:

»  Market risk;
s Credi risk, and
s Liquidity risk.

Each of these risks ars managed In accordance with Board-approved policies. Risk management policies and systems
have been established and are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. These
policies are set out below

The Group's financial rigk management processes seek to enable the early identification, evaluation and effective
management of the significant risks facing the business.

The Group does not use financial derivatives and does not enter into trade financial instruments, in¢luding derivative
financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
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25. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)
b) Risk management (continued)
Market risk

Market risk Is the risk of movements in the fair value of future cash fiows of a financial instrument or forecast transaction
as underlying market prices change. The only market risk to which the Group is exposed is changes in interest rates The
Group's business activities expose it to neither commodity price nsk nor foreign currency risk.

Interest rate nsk is the risk that a change in interest rates adversely effects the Group's performance or ability to settla
financiak obligations and comprises two elements,

Interest price risk
This risk results from financial instruments bearing fixed interest rates; changes in floating interest rates therefore affect
the fair value of these fixed rate financial instruments.

The Group has no dabt subject to fixed interest rates; therefore, it is not exposed to interest price risk.

interest cash flow risk
This risk results from financial instruments bearing floating interest rates. Changes in floating interest ratas affect cash
llows on interest receivable or payable.

The Group 1s exposed to interest rate nsk on its floating rate debt, namely all loans and borrowings. The interest rate
exposure of the Group Is managed within the constraints of the Group's business plan and the financial covenants under
its facilities Due to the low value of the Group's loans and borrawings as at 31 March 2023, the Group doaes not have
significant sensitivities to the impact of future changes in interast rates on floating rate debt.

Credit risk

Credit nsk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obiigations resulting in financial loss to the
Group

The Group is exposed to credit risk on its financial assets, which consist of cash balances with banks and trade and other
receivables to the extent that settlement 15 cash-related. The Group does nol have a significant exposure to this typs of
financial nsk due to the nature of its customer base and the types of transaction that are undertaken.

The maximum exposure to credit risk on the Group's financial assels 1s represented by the assets’ carrying amount.

Financa lease raceivables

The Group has one finance lease receivable, which is a sub-leased property. There have bean no instances of rent default
by the lessee in the past, and no defaults are expected in the future. hence the credit risk is deemed 10 be low. No
impairment loss allowance has been recognised in either the current or the prior period.

Trade receivables
The Group has a high volume of transactions spread across a large customer base, therefore, does not have a significant
exposure to the credit worthiness of any single counterparty.

The Group has an established credit palicy applied by each business under which the credit status of each new customer
is reviewed (by reference to external credit evaluatons, where possible) before credit is advanced. Credit limits are
ostablished far all significant or high-risk customers which represent the maximum amount permitted to be outstanding
without requiring additional approval from the appropnate lavel of management. These limits are based on external credit
reference agency ratings and the utilisation of approved credit limits is regularly monitored. Outstanding debts are
continually monitored by each business unit.

Trade receivables are considered to be past due once they have passed thewr contractual due date. At each reporting date,
the Group uses a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses on trade receivables. When the debt is deemed
irrecoverable, the allowance account is written off against the underlying receivable.
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25. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)
b) Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of trade receivables

The provision for credit losses recognised against trade recevables is based on an expected credit loss model that
calculates the expected loss applicable to the receivable balance over its ifetme Default rates are calculated considenng
historical loss experience and are applied to trade receivables within a provision matnx  The matrix approach allows for
the application of different default rates fo different groups of customers with s:milar charactenstics The characteristics
used to determine the groupings of receivables are the factors that have the greatest impact on the likslihood of default,
namely, number of days past due. The rate of defaull increases once the balance is 90 days past due and subsequently
in 90-day increments. This matrix calculation approach is considered to be appropriate as the Group's trade recelvable
balance consists of a high volume of individually low value balances.

The most significant assumptions included within the expected credit loss provision.ng model that gives rise to estimation
uncertainty, albeit immaterial, are that future default rates will be consistent with actual past perfomance and that there
will be no significant change in the payment profile or recovery rates Histor.cal default rates are calculated using a ‘roll
rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off.
Default rates are based on average actual cradit loss experience over the previous two-year period. The Group reviews
and updates these default rates on a guarterly basis to ensure that the defaull rates usad as the basis of the assumption
are calculated based on the most up-to-date data. Actual historical default rates are then adjusted for current, forward -
loaking information; namely, regulatory changes and macroeconomic factors applicable to the Group's customer base that
may have an impact, now or in the future_ on recoverability While forward-looking information is usually considered to be
immatenal, exceptions to this could arise in the event of a forecast significant, one-off event

The movement in the aliowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables dunng the year was as follows

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £000
Balance at 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 1,632 671
Net remeasurement of loss allowances (853) 861
Balance at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 679 1,632

Cash and cash equivalants

Banking relationships are generally limited to those banks that are members of the core relationship group. These banks
are selected for their credit status and their ability to meet the businesses’ day-to-day banking requirements. The credit
ratings of these institutions are monitored ¢n a continuing basis.

The Group has not recorded impairments against cash or cash equivalents, nor have any recoverability issues besn
identified with such balances. Such items are typically recovarable on demand or in line with normal banking arrangements,
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.

25. Financial Instruments - risk management (continued)
b) Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk
A summary of the Group's exposure to eredit risk for Irade recewables and cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Not credit- Not credit-

impaired Credit-impaired impaired Credit-impaired
Counterparties without external credit rating:

Group 1 4,567 - 278 -
Group 2 83,664 - 67,910 -
Total gross carrying amount 88,231 - 68,1689 -
Loss allowance {679) - {1,532) -
Net carrying amount of trade receivables 87,662 - 66,657 -
Gross carrying amount 1,190 - 1,305 -

Loss allowance - -

Finance lease receivable 1,190 - 1,308 -

Counterparties with external credit rating:

A\ A+ (stable)* 47,798 - 27,698 -
Loss aliowance - . - -
Cash at bank 47,798 - 27,698 -

Group 1 — new cusiomers/related parties {less than 6 months).
Gmoup 2 - exisling cuslomers/related parties (more than & months) and no defaults in the past.

* Standard & Poor's raling (long teim)
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25. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)
b) Risk management {conlinued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk ;s the nsk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial liabilities
as they fall due

Ulimate responsibility for liquidity nsk management rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for the management of the Group's short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
managemant requirements.

Liquidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate leve's of easily accessible cash reservas and committed banking
facities. To assess the adequacy of resources, available headroom is continuously monitored through review of foracast
and actual cash flows and through matching the maturty profiles of financial assets and liabiiities. The Group has access
to undrawn banking facilities in order to further reduce liquidity risk. The Group does not anticipate any issues drawing on
the committed, undrawn banking facilities should this be necessary. Full details of the Group's borrowing facilities are
given in Note 23 “Loans and Borrowings'.

The table be'ow analyses the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to the Group's financial liabilities at the balance
sheet date The cash flows are grouped based on the remaining pericd to the contractual maturity date. The Group hokis
sufficient funds to meet these commitments as they fall due.

Due
between 6 Due Due
Due within 6 months and between{1 between? Dueafter5
months 1 year and 2 years and 5 years yoars Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Mortgages 715 745 1432 4,295 3,082 10,239
Lease labilities 11,457 11,112 21,263 55,941 141,903 241,646
Trade and other payables excluding
non-financial liabilites {note 21) 704,602 - - - - 704,602
At 31 March 2023 716,774 11 .831 Z%MMM
Due
between E Bue Dua
Due within 8 months and between 1 between2 Due after5
months 1year and 2years and 5years- years Total
E'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Morigages 75 715 1,428 4,283 4 469 11,610
Lease liabilities 13,084 12,364 23.2% 62,401 170,244 281,321
Trade and other payables excluding
non-financial liabilities (note 21) 629,569 ) } ) - 629,559
At 31 March 2022 643,356 13,078 24,659 66,684 174,713 922,490

The above lables do not include forecast data for liabilities which may be incurred in the future but which were not
contracted as at the balance sheet date
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25. Financlal Instruments - risk management (continued)
¢) Capital risk management

The cap tal structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings and shareholders’ equity.
Tha Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity provides details on equity Note 19 provides defails of cash and cash
equivalents and Note 22 prowvides details of loans and borrowings.

The Group manages its capital structure with the following objectives:

« to safequard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and maintain sufficient available rescurces as
protection for unforeseen events;

« o ensure that sufficient capital rescurces are available for working capital requirements and meeting pringipal and
interest payment obligatons as they fall due,

+ to provide fexibility of resource for strategic growth and investment where opportunities arise; and

* o provide reasonable returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders whilst maintaining a limited level
of fisk.

There were no changes to the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

By virtue of the Group's retail mediation achvities, the Group is subject to the capital requirements imposed by the Financial
Conduct Authority on all non-investment insurance intermedianies. The Group's capital adequacy is menitored on a
quarterly basis and its captal resources have been consistently in excess of the requirements.

The Directors monitor the Group's capital structure and determine the level of dividends payable to shareholders at least
twice a year prior to the announcement of results, taking into account the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and the capital requirements of its strategic business plans, Consistent with others in the industry, the Directors moniter
levels of laverage by reference to the ratio of net debt to total shareholders’ equity.

Net debt 13 ¢alculated as total borrowings (including both current and non-current borrowings) less cash and cash
equivalents As disclosed in the Net Debt Reconciliation on page 25, the Group had net debt of £147 965,000 as at 31
March 2023 (31 March 2022 £193, 884 000).

26. Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and financial habilities are as below. The Group
considers that the carrying amount of the following financial assets and financial liabilities are a reasonable approximation
of their fair value: trade receivables, trade payables, bank loans and cash and cash aquivalents. Tharefore, these assets
are not disclosed below.

ANl fair values shown in the table below are measured using observable inputs {Level 2). The fair value of non-current
mortgages are determined by reference to future contractual cash flows discounted using the prevailing market interest
rates for facilities with similar characleristics.

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Carrying Fair Carrying Falr
amount value amount value
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Mortgages 8775 7,583 10,683 10,111

There have been no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy during either the current or prior penods.
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27. Share capital and reserves
Share capital and share premium

Number Ordinary Share
of shares shares premium Total
No. £'000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2021 78,232 237 50 068 19,672 69740
At 31 March 2022 78,232,237 50,088 19,672 69,740
issued in the year 3,095 896 1982 - 1.982
At 31 March 2023 84,328,133 52,050 19,672 ™, 722

Al shares issued are authorised, allotied, called up and fully paid at par value of 64 psence each

Issue of shares
In May 2022, the 2019 Awards, 2022 Awards and 2021 Performance Awards vested and were exercised. In order to satisfy
the equity setiled options, the Company issued 3,095 896 ordinary shares at par value of 84 pence each on 20 June 2022

Shares held by subsidiaries
No shares in the Company were held by subsidiaries i the year (15 months ended 31 March 2022 ni).

Share-hased payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-setiled share-based payments granted to
employees, including key management personnel and D-rectors of the Group as part of ther remuneration. Refer to Note
28 *Share-Based Payments’ for further details of these plans

Own shares reserve

Represents shares in the Company hekd by the Marshall Motor Holdings Employes Bensfit Trust. These shares are held
in order to satisfy options exercised under the Group's Performance Share Plan. Further details of which are set out in
Note 28 'Share-Based Payments'.
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28. Share-based payments

The Group operaled an equity-settied share option scheme for certain senior managers and executive directors of the
Group ("the Performance Share Plan”). As at 31 March 2023, five share grants have been awarded under the scheme
being (a) 2017 Performance Awards, {b) 2018 Performance Awards, (c) 2018 Awards. (d) 2020 Awards and (e) 2021
Performance Awards. Awards are made annually to eligible employees at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.
employees receive shares at the end of the performance period, subject to the achievement of the specified undertying
basic earnings per share ("EPS") performance conditions. Performance conditions are designed to incentivise senior
managers and executive directors to maximise long-term shareholder returns. All sutstanding options were exercised In
the year. Each option grant under the schema is disclosed separately below.

The total share-based payment charge racognised during the year ended 31 March 2023 was Enil (15 months ended 31
March 2022: £6,700.000). This is split as £nil in accruals (15 months ended 31 March 2022 £1,709 000) and £nil (15
months ended 31 March 2022: £4,991,000) in the share-based payments reserve

It an option remains unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the oplion expires. There is no remaining
weighted average contractual life of options cutstanding as at 31 March 2023 is (31 March 2022: 7.9 years).

The fair value of share options is determined by refarence to the market value of the Group's shares at the date of grant
No valuation model is required to calculate the fair value of awards on the basis that the employees receiving the awards
are entitled to receive the full value of the shares and there are no market-based pedormance conditions attached to the
awards. The weighted average fair value of options outstanding as at 31 March 2023 is £nil (31 March 2022: £1 85) The
fair value of options granted during the year was £nit (15 months ended 31 March 2022: £2.57).

Oplions are ordinarily forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest All options issued are ni cost
options and all awards have an exercise price of £nil.

The share option scheme is in place to encourage option holders to take appropniate and timely action to maximise the
long-term financial performance and success of the Group. As a result, in accordance with the discretion afforded to them
under the Group’s remuneration policy, the Remuneration Committee regularly reviews any impact of Group restrycturings
and reorganisations on incentive outcomes to ensure that perfermance conditions are not distorted by action taken to
optimise business performance for the long-term benefit of the Group The Remuneration Commitiee exercised this
discretion during both the current and prior periods.

In April 2021, the 2018 Performance Awards became exercisabie. On 27 May 2021 all aption hagiders exercised these
options. As such, 156,114 existing ordinary shares were acquired from the market to satisfy the exercise of these options
On exercise, the Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion to settle a proportion of the share options equal to the
option holders’ tax liability arising on exercise in cash rather than being cash settied. The total value of cash-settied
transactions was £365,000.

In September 2020, the 2017 Performance Awards became exercisable On 27 May 2021, all option holders exercised
these options. As such, 146,385 existing ordinary shares were acquired from the market to satisfy the exercise of these
options. On exercise, the Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion to setile a proportion of the share options equal
to the option holders' tax liability arising on exercise in cash rather than being cash settled. The total value of cash-settled
transactions was £273,000.

In May 2022, the 2019 Awards, 2020 Awards and 2021 Performance Awards vested and became exercisable. On 11 May

2022, ail option holders exercised these options. As such, 3,085,896 ordinary shares were issued to satisfy the exercise
af these options.
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28. Share-based payments (continued)
a) 2017 Performance Awards

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject to non-market perfarmance conditions as detailed below as well as the service
condition of continuous employment

The optons vest for achieving growth in underlying, basic EPS from 2018 to 2019, 25%, vest for acheving growth of CPI
plus 1% per annum and the percentage of options which vests increases on a straight ling basis up to 100% vesting for
achieving growth of CPI plus 5% per annum. These performance cnteria were not met due to unprecedented adverse
market conditions. The Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion in light of the circumstances: therefore, 50% of
these options become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date. The options were exercised on 27 May 2021,

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject to a holding penod that starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth
anniversary of the grant date

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding as at 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 - . 577.690 -
Granted during the year - - -
Forfeited during the year - - - -
Exercised during the year - - (283.044) -
Expired dunng the year - - (284,646} -

Outstanding as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - - - -
Exercisable as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - - - -

b} 2018 Performance Awards

The 2018 Performance Awards are subject to non-market perfarmance conditions as detailed below as well as the service
condition of continuous employment

The opuons vest for achieving growth in underlying, basic EPS from 2017 to 2020; 25% vest for achieving growth of 1.3%
per annum and the percentage of options which vests increases on a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving
growth of 8% or more per annum. These performance criteria were not met due to unprecedented adverse market
conditions The Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion in light of the circumstances; therefore, 50% of these
options become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date. The options were exercised on 27 May 2021,

The 2018 Performance Awards are subject to @ holding period that starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth
anniversary of the grant date.

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
No. WAEP No. WAEP
Qutstanding as at 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 - - 644,760 .
Granted during the year - - . -
Forfeited during the year - - - .
Exercised during the year - - {304 640) -
Expired during the year - - {340,120} -

Outstanding as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - - . .

Exercisable as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - - .
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28. Share-based payments {continued)
c) 2019 Awards

The 2019 Awards are subject to the service conditon of continuous empioyment. These options vest and hecome
exercisable on change of control and ownerstip of the Group On 11 May 2022. ali option holders exercised these options

31 March 2022

31 March 2023

No. WAEP No. WAEP
Qutstanding as at 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 661 560 . 668,577 .
Granted duiing the year - - 17,544 -
Forfeited during the year - - (24,561} -
Exercised during the year {661,560) - .
Expired during the year - R . .
Qutstanding as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - 661,560 -

Exercisable as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - -

d) 2020 Awards

The 2020 Awards are subject to the service condition of continuous employment. These options vest and become
exercisable on change of contrel and ownership of the Group. On 11 May 2022. ali option holders exercised these options

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding as at 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 1.067,632 - 1035.632 .
Granted during the year - - 32,000 .
Forfaited during the year N R
Exercised during the year (1,067.632) . .
Expired during the year - . .
Outstanding as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - - 1,067,632 -

Exercisable as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - -

e) 2021 Awards

Tha 2021 Performance Awards are subject to the servica condition of continuous employment. These options vest and
become exercisable on change of contro! and cwnership of the Group. On 11 May 2022, ali option holders exercised these

options
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding as at 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 1,269,616 - -
Granted during the year - . 1,315,180
Forfeited during the year - - {15,564) .
Exercised during the year {1,299,616) . R
Expired during the year - - -
Outstanding as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - - 1,299,616 -

Exercisable as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 - .
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29. Analysis of net debt

Cash and cash eguivalents

Liabllities ariging from
financing activities
Loans and borrowings
Lease habilities

Net debt

Lease liabilities

Adjusted net cash at year end
(ron GAAP measure)

Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities arising from financing
activities

Loans and borrowings

Lease labilites

Net debt

Lease liabilities

Adjusted net cash at period end
(non GAAP measure)

At 1 April Non-cash At 31 March
2022  Cash flows Acquisitions itermns 2023
£900 £000 £000 £'000 £000

27,698 20,100 - . 47,798
(12,111) 1,919 - - {10,192}

(208,271) 19,667 {1,872) 5705 (185,571)

(221,382) 21,586 {1,672) 5,705 {195,783)

(192,684) 41,686 {1,672) 5,705 " {147,965)

209,271 (19,667) 1,672 (5,705} 185,571

15,587 22,018 - - 37.606
At 1 January Non-cash At 31 March
2021 Cash flows  Acquisitions™ items* 2022
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
33,844 {26,445) 20,300 - 27,698
(5,024) 1,213 (8,300) - (12,111}
(99,344) 21,133 {119,296) (11,764) (209,271)
{104,368) 22,346 (127,696) {11,764) {221,382)
(70,524) {4,100) {107,296) {11,764) (193,684)
99,344 (21,133) 119,296 11,764 209,271
28,820 (25,233) 12,800 - 15,587

*Mon-cash items includae new lease contracts (£14.114,000), disposals (£2.870.000), remeasurements 1o existing lease fiabilities
{£139 000) as well as the unwinding of the discount on lease liabilities (£661,000).

* The inttease In lease liability commiments on acquisilions arises predominantly from the portfolio of property leases entered into on
acquisition of the Leicester JLR franchise in the current year and the Motorline group of companies in the prior period. For full detaifs of
lease habilities ansing on each acquisition n the year see Note 13{a) 'Goodwill and other intangible assets: acquisitions — current year.
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30. Related party transactions

Key management compensation is given in Note 9 ‘Frmployees and Directors’,

Ouring prior periods the Directors were members of an employee car ownership scheme under which the following
transactions were entered into — this scheme was wound down during the prior period The Directors purchased three cars
during the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 for an aggregate price of £281,000 and sold back five cars at a combined
price of £464,000. The Directors did not make any material profits an these fransachons

All companies within the group headed by Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limied up until the change in ownership with
the group being headed by Consiellation Automotive Holdings Limited then on, other than those which are subsidiaries of

Marshail Motor Holdings Limited. are related parties for which the disclosure exemption does not apply.

Transactions with related parties

Year ended 31

15 months ended

March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000

Sale of goods to related parties 113,452 as?
Purchase of goods from related parties 183 340 -
Rendering of services to related parties 5,049 226
Rental of property from related parties - 816

Amounts due fram related parties

As at 31 March

Ag at 31 March

2023 2022
£'000 £000
Trading balances due from related parties 6 863 214

Amounts due to related parties

As at 31 March

As at 31 March

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Trading balances dug to related parties 3,827 38

Outstanding balances with group enlities are unsecured, interest free and are expected to be setlled in cash

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group made no provision for doubtful debts refating to amounts owed by

related parties (15 months ended 31 March 2022; £nil).
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31. Pensions

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution pension schemes: contributions paid are calculated by reference
to a percentage of each employee's salary. All defined contribution schemes into which the Group makes contributions
are managed by thid party providers. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the
spacified contributions  The total charge for contributions during the year ended 31 March 2023 was £5,618,000 (15
months ended 31 March 2022: £4,392,000).

The total unpaid pension coniributions outstanding at the year end were £528,000 (31 March 2022: £426,000).

32. Ultimate parent company

On 11 May 2022 Marshall Motor Holdings Limited was acquired by a new intermediate parent company, CAG Vega 2
Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales. The uitimate controlling party became TDR Capital LLP, a Limited
Liabiity Partnerstup ncorporated in England and Wales. Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited is the largest
undertaking that consolidates these financial statements.

The financial statements of these companies can be obtained frem The Registrar of Companies at Companies House,
Crown Way Cardiff CF14 3UZ.

33. Events after the reporting year

On 30 June 2023 the Group disposed of all of the Toyota and Lexus franchises held by the Group (19 businesses in totai)
to Steven Eagell Limited, FRF (South Wales) Limited, and Listers Group Limited.
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Balance Sheet
At 31 March 2023

Fixed assets
Investmenis

Current assets
Cebtors
Cash at bank and n hand

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities

Net assots

Capital and reserves
Catled-up share capital

Share premium

Share-based payments reserve
Own shares reserve

Profit and loss account
Shareholders® funds

Note

10

11
11

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
219,840 219,940
1.392 618

27 548 42 861
28,940 43,579
{162,453) {174,434)
(133,513} {130,8565)
86,427 89,085
52,050 50,068
19,672 19,672

. 58617

14,705 13,728
86,427 89,085

The total comprehensive profit of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 was £17 342,000 (Loss for the 15

months enced 31 March 2022: £16,168,000).

The Company financial statements ware approved for issue by the Board of Directors and authonsed for issue 21

September 2023.

Dotuligned by
Mart Homus
189" JagLE AL

M C. Hemus
Director
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2023

At 1 January 2021
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive
loas for the period
Equity dividends paid
Exercise of share
options

Acquisition of own
shares

Shars-based
payments charge

At 31 March 2022

Profit for the year
Total comprehensive
profit for the year
Equity dividends paid
New shares issued
Exercise of share
options

At 31 March 2023

Note

12
10

14

12
10

10

Own  Profit and
Called-up share Share-based shares loss
capital Share premium payments reserve reserve account Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 E000
50,088 19,672 1,585 (12) 36,987 108,300
- - - - (16,168) (16,168)
- - - - {16,168) (16,168)
. . - - 6,931y (6,931)
- - {959) 547 (160} (572}
- - (535) - (635)
. - 4,991 - - 4,991
50,068 19,672 5,617 - 13,728 89,085
. - - 17,342 17,342
N - 17,342 17,342
. - - - {20,000y (20,000)
1,982 - (1,982) - .
. - (5817) 4 og9 3,635 -
T 52,050 18,672 . . 14,705 86,427
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1. Statement of compliance

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited {the Company} is incorporated and demiciled in the United Kingdom. The Company is a
private limited company, limited by shares. The Company is registered in England under the Companies Act 2006
{registration number 02051461) with the address of tha registered office being. c/o Marshall Volkswagen Miiton Keynes,
Greyfriars Court, Milton Keynes, Buckinghamshire, MKK10 0BN, United Kingdam

The parent company financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102, the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006

2. Basis of preparation

The financiat statements are prepared in Sterling which is both the functional and presentational currency of the Company
and all valugs are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except where otherwise indicated. The financial
information has been prepared on the going concem and historical cost basis.

The Company is part of the consolidated financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited.

Prior reporting period

On 11 May 2022 all of the issved share capital of the Company was acquired by CAG Vega 2 Limited. In anticipation of this
change of ownership, to align the reporting period with that of acquirer, all entities in the Group changed the end of the
reporting period from 31 December to 31 March. Amounts presented for the 2022 reporting period are for a 15 month period.
Comparative figures are for a 12 manth period. Consequently, comparative amounts reported in the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolicdated Statement of Cash Flows and
related notes are not entirely comparable.

Exemptions adopted
The following disclosure exemplions have been adopted as permitted by FRS 102:
- Presentation of a cash-flow statement and related notes
- Financial instrument-related disclosures
- Key management personnel compensation disclosures
- Share-based payments disclosures

Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
As permitted under section 408 of the Companies Act 2008, the Company has elected to present neither a Company Income
Statement nor a Company Statement of Comprehensive Income

3. Accounting policies

Except where disclosed otherw.se in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Company financial
statements are consistent with those applied when preparing the Company financial statements for the 15 month period
ended 31 March 2022

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidianes are recognised at cost less any impairment, Impairments are recognised directly through the
income Statement.

Taxation

Current taxation
Current tax s recogmsed for the amount of ncome tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the current or past reporting
periods using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s recognised in respect of all timing differences which are differences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive income that anse from the :nclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from
those in which they are recognigsed in the financial statements There ara the following exceptions.,

Where in a business combination there are differences between amounts that can be deducted for tax for assets (other
than goodwill) and habilihes compared with the amounts that are recogmsed in the financial stalements for those assats and
liabihties, a deferred tax habiity or asset is recognised The amount attnbuted to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of the
deferred tax recognised
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3. Accounting policies (continued)
Taxatlon (continued)

Deferred taxation (continued)

Unrelieved tax Iosses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is considered probable that they
will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits. Defarred tax is measured on
an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, based
on ax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

With the exception of changes arising on the initial recognition of a business combination, the taxation charge or credit is
presented either in the income slatement or the statement of other comprehensive income depending on the transaction
that resulted in the taxation charge or credit.

Deferred tax kabilities are presented within provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets within debtors. Deferred tax

assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if:

- the company has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and

- the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority cn
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultanegusly.

Financial instruments

The Company has non-derivative financial instruments comprising trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
loans and borrowings and trade and other payables,

The Company has no financial instruments measured at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank and in hand

Short-term debtors and craditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and which are receivable or payable within one year are recorded at
transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the Income Statement

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the present value of cash payable to the bank {including
interest). After initial reccgnition they are measured at amortised cost using the efective interest rate method, less
impairment. The effective intergst rate amortisation is included in the Income Statement.

Share-based payments

Prior to the sale to CAG Vega 2 Limited the Company cperated a number of equity-setiled, share-based compensation plans
through which the Company allowed employees to receive shares in the Company

Equity-settied share-based payments were measured at fair value (calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market
based performance vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based payment charge to be expensed was
determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted and was recognised as an employee expense within
underlying earnings, with a corresponding increase In equity

The share-based payment charge was recogrnised on a straight-line basis over the vesting periad (being the period over
which all vesting conditions are to be satisfied) An award subject o graded vesting was accounted for as though it were
multiple, separate awards, the number of awards being determined in direct correlation to the number of instalments in which
the options vest.

The share-based payment charge was based on the Company's estimate of the number of options that were expected to
vesl. At each balance sheet date, the Company revised its estimates of the number of options that waere expected to vest
based on the non-market performance vesting conditions and service conditions. The Company's remuneration palicy gave
the Remuneration Committee discretion to revise performance conditions to adjust for the impact of group restructurings
and reorganisations on incentive outcomes. The impact of any revisions to original vesting estimates or performance
conditions was recognised in the Income Statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements

3. Accounting policies (continued)

Shara-based payments (conlinued)

Social secunty contributions payabie in connection wath share options granted were considered to be an integral part of the
grant and were, therefore, treated as cash-setted transactions. Cash-setlled share-based payments transactions were
measured at fair value at the settlement date, with changes n fair value recognised directly in equity in retained earnings.

When options were exercised, the Company issued new shares. These shares were gifted to the Employee Benefit Trust
by the Company at nominal value. The cost of these shares was recognised as a reduction to equity in the own shares
reserve Vihen the options were exercised and the shares iransferregd to the employess, the ¢ost on the own shares reserve
are transferrad to equilty.

When options igsued by the Employee Benefit Trust were exercised the own shares reserve was reduced and a gain or loss
was recognised .n the reserves based on proceeds less weighted-average cost of shares initially purchased now exercised.

Where shares options were forfeited, effective from the date of the forfeiture, any share-based payment charge praviously
recognised in both the current and prior periods in relation to these options were reversed though the Income Statement
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The cost of awards granted ta employees of the Company's subsidianes was recognised as an addition to the cost of its
investment in the employing subsidiary, with a corresponding increase in the Share-Based Payments Reserva in the
Statement of Changes n Equity.

Employee benefit trust

The Marshall Motor Holdings Emplayee Benefit Trust (the Trust) was established in the conlext of the share-based
compensaton plans operated by the Group. The Trust 1s registerad in Jersey and was formed on 20 June 2015

The Trust 1s treated as an extension of the Company (the sponsoring entity of the employee share oplion plans); therefore,
the assets and liabilties of the Trust are included in the Company Balance Sheet The Company Balance Sheet includes all
shares in the Company held by the Trust. These shares are disclosed in the Own Shares Reserve as a deduclion from

equity.

Penslons
The Company participates in a defined contribution scheme for its employees Confributions are charged to the Income

Statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Company's shareholdars are recognised as a lability in the financial statements in the year in which
the dwidends are approved by the Company's shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Dividend income
Income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established, which 1s generally when shareholders

approve the dividend All of the Company's income is generated in the UK

4. Auditor's remuneration

The auditor s remuneration for audit and other services was £5,000 (15 months ended 31 March 2022, £5.000)
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Marshall Motar Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements

5. Employees and directors
Employee costs for the Company during the year were;

Year ended 16 months ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£000 £'000
Wages and salaries ‘ ' 2,142 3,197
Social security costs 24 666
Qther pension costs 33 136
Share based paymenis - 3,215
2,199 7.214

The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:
Yoear ended 15 months ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

No. No.
Management 3 3

Deta'ls of Directors' remuneration are included in Note 8 'Employees and Directors’ ta the consolidated financial statements

6. Investments in subsidiaries
Yaar ended 15 months ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

E£'000 £'000
Al 1 April 2022 and 1 January 2021 219,940 : 154,689
Additions - 85,579
Share-based payment awards to employees of subsidiaries - 2,587
impairment - (2,915)
At 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2022 219,940 219,940

Prior Pariod Additions

On 14 October 2021, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Motorline Hokdings Limited for cash
consideration of £64,000,000.

For further details of the subsidiaries acguired, see Note 14(a) 'Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets' in the consolidated
financial statements.

{mpairment

impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if evants or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may nct be recoverable and a potential impairment may be required. Impairment reviews have been
performed for all investments in subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022. Impairment charges are recorded
within administrative expenses in the Income Statement.

On 30 June 2023 the Group disposed of all of the Toyota and Lexus franchises held by the Group (19 businesses in total)
lo Steven Eagell Limited, FRF {South Wales) Limited, and Listers Group Limited. The consideration included £20.1m in
respect of goodwill. Consequently an impairment of £5 Om was recorded at 31 March 2023 in order to reduce the carrying
value of goodwili and intangible assets to the consideration value.

The Company recognised impairment charges during the prior period totalling £2,915,000 in relation to two of the
investments in subsidiaries. Both impairments arose due to the closure of certain franchises operated by those subsidiary
undertakings.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
6. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Subsidiarles

The Company owns directly or indirectly the whole of the issued and fully paid ordinary share capital of the following
subsidiary undertakings. All subsidiaries are incorporated in England and Wales

The registered office for all subsidiary companies Visted below is Arport House. The Airport. Cambridge, CB5 BRY, United
Kingdom. All subsidiaries listed below are mcluded within the consolidated financ al stalements on page 21 to 75

Name of Undertaking

Principal activity at year end

Marshall Motor Group Limited?

Marshall of Cembndge (Garage Properies) | imited® *{reg no. 02051459)

Tim Brinton Cars Limited® *(reg no. 01041301)
Marshall of ipswich Limited* {reg no. 04447940}
Marshall of Peterborough Limited” *{reg no, 04861074)
S.G. Smith Holdings Limited*

S.G. Smith Aulomol ve Limited *(reg no 00622112)
8.G. Smith (Motors) Limited

S G. Smith (Motars) Beckenham Limited *(reg no. 00648305}

S G. Smith (Metars) Forest Hill Limwted “(reg no 00581710)

$.G. Smith (Molors) Crown Point Limited *(reg no. 00581711}

5.G. Smith (Molors) Sydenham L'mited

§ G. Smith (Matars) Croydon Limited

S G. Smith Trade Parts Limited *{reg no 01794317)
Prap-Poinl Limited *{reg no. 00660067)

Marshall of Stevenage Limited* *{reg no. 06450140)
Marshall Commercial Vehicles Limited

Marshall North West Limited” *(reg no. 00322817)
Marshall of Sgunthorpe Lirmited® *(reg no. 04 174004)
Sdver Street Automotive Limited® *(reg no. 00716748)
Exeter Trade Pants Specialisis LLP “(reg no. QC329331}
Audi South West Limited

Hanjo Russell Limited

CMG 2007 Limited*

Astle Limited *(reg no. 01114983}

Crystal Molor Group Limiled ‘(reg nc. 04813767)
Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited*

Pentagon Limited *{reg no. 01862751)

Pentagon South West Limited

Ridgeway TPS Limited *(reg no. 06112651}
Ridgeway Bavarian Limited *{reg nd G7830214)
Wood in Hampshire Limited

Wood of Salisbury Limited

Motorline Holdings Lirmied"*

Mototiine Limited

Motorlina {Broad Oak) Limiled*

Motorline {Canterbury) Limited*

Motorine (Kent} Limited

Motorline TPS Limited *(reg no, 10474229)
Driveline Limited*

Dealcaim Limited “(reg no. 04073914)

Matorline (UK) LLP

A Direct subsidiary of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Franchised motor dealership
Property investment and development
Property holding

Franchised molor dealership
Franchised molor dealership
Daormant

Holding company

Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Oormant

Motor parts sales
Maintenance and repair nf moter vehicles
Franchised motor deaiershp
Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor gealership
Motor parts sakes

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Motor paris sales
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Dormant

Franchised motar dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Motor parts sales
Franchised motor dealership
Property helding

Dormant

* Subsidiaries for which exemption from audil by vinue of s479A of the Companies Acl 2006 has been laken for the year ended 31 March

2023
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements

7. Debtors

Trade debtors

Other debtors

VAT

Corporation tax

Prepayments and accrued income
Deferrad tax asset (note 8)

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

£'000 £:000
120 -
22 18

1 36

917 -
332 512

- 51
1,392 618

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group made no provision for doubtful debis relating to amounts owed to related

parties (15 months ended 31 March 2022: £nil).

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment date.

8. Deferred tax assets

The analysis and movements in deferred tax assets during the year were as follows

At 1 January 2021

Charged to the Income Statement

Credited to the Income Statement - prior year
At 31 March 2022

Charged to the Income Statement - current year
Credited to the Income Statement pnor period
At 31 March 2023

The balance of the deferred tax asset consists of the tax effect of iming differences in respect of

Other timing differences

Temporary
differences
£000

1

6}

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000

£000
51

The Directors believe that all dividends paid by the Company's subsidiaries will maet the exemption conditions set out in tax

legislation and are, therefore, non-taxable income

83



DocuSign Envelope ID: 77CFAS4F-0BBC-4706-BDEC-CB9ATOE1741E

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements

9. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors

Amounts owed to Group undertakings
Carporation tax

Other taxation and social secunity
Other creditors

Accruals and deferred income

Amounts owed 1o group undertakings are unsecured, bear no inlerast and have no fixed repayment date.

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

£'000 £'000
1,242 958
161,054 168,424
- 1,310

92 779

5 9

60 1,954
162,453 174,424

Details of loans and borrowings can be found in Note 22 ‘Loans and Borrowings' of the consolidated financial statements

10. Share capital and reserves

Al 1 January 2021
At 31 March 2022

Issuad in the year
At 31 March 2023

All shares issued are fully paid,

Number
of shares

50,068

50,068
1982

52,050

r—T———CrCE———

Details of the Company's share capital and the nature of the reserves are included in Note 27 *Share Capital and Reserves’

in the consolidated financial statemenis.

11. Share-based payments reserve

The Company operates a share-based payment scheme; having adopted the d sclosure exemptions permitied by FRS 102
full details of the scheme are included in Note 28 'Share-Based Payments' in the consolidated financial stataments and are

not duplicated here.

The share-based payment expense recognised by the Company is calculated by reference to the number of options awarded

to the employees of the Company.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements

12. Dividends

Year anded 15 months ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

£'000 £000

Pald during the year
Intetim dividend for 2022 - 6,931
Interim dividend for 2023 20 Qo0 -
20,000 6,931

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 of £20,000,000 representing a payment of 24 59p per
ardinary share in issug at that time was paid in September 2022 A final dividend in respect of the year endad 31 March
2023 is not proposed An intenm dividend in respect of the 15 menths ended 31 March 2022 of £6,931 000 representing a
payment of 8.86p per ordinary share in ssue at that time was paid in September 2021. Following the Company's change in
status from a public listed company to a pnvate limited company a final dividend in respect of the 15 month period ended
31 March 2022 is not proposed

13. Pensions

As descrbed in Note 3 ‘Accounting Policies'. the Company participatas in a pension scheme for the benefits of its empioyees
which is a defined contribution scheme. The scheme is funded by the payment of contributions to a trustee administered
fund which is kept indepandently from the assets of the participating employers.

The total pension cost for the year was £33.000 (15 months ended 31 March 2022: £136,000).

The total unpaid pension contributions outstanding at the year end were £nil (2022° £ml)

14. Related party transactions

Company transactions with subsidiaries
The Company has taken advantage of exemption under the terms of Section 33 of FRS 102, not to disclose related party
ransactons with subsidiaries within the Group.

Transactions with Directors
Details of transactions with Directors are included in Note 30 ‘Related Party Transactions' of the consolidated financal
statements.

15. Ultimate parent company

On 11 May 2022 Marshail Motor Holdings Limited was acquired by a new intermediate parent company CAG Vega 2
Limited, & company incorporated in England and Wales. The ulttmate controlling party became TDR Capital LLP, a Limited
Liability Partnership mcorporated in England and Wales. Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited is the largest
undertaking that consolidatas these financial statements.

The financial statements of these companies can be obtained from The Registrar of Companies at Companies House, Crown
Way. Cardiff CF14 3U2Z
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Appendix - Altarnative Performance Measures {APMs)

The Group presents various APMs as the Duectors believe that these are useful for users of the financal stalements in
helping to provide a balanced view of, and relevant information on. the Graup's firancial performance The APMs are
measures which disclose the adjusted performance of the Group excluding specific 1ems which are regarded as non-
recurring. See Note 7 ‘Non-Underlying ltems for full details of the nature of items excluded from non-underlying performance

measures.

The following tables show the recanciliation between the Group's performance as reported in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {IFRS} and the Group's underlying performance and like-for-like results.

Underlying operating profit

Total continuing operating profit as reported

Impact of non-underlying items

Acquisition costs

Net recognition of restructuring costs

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale
Profit on disposal of freehold properties

Profit on disposal of investment property

Loss on impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets
Loss on disposal of goodwil:

Other

Continuing underlying operating profit

Adjusted Net Debt

Net debt consists of:
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities

Closing net debt

Lease liabilities
Adjusted net cash

1

Year ended 31

15 months endad 31

March 2023 March 2022
£'000 £'000
59,406 97,256

98 3476

2,514 7.732

- (86)

(2,718) -

- {913)

6,634 -

561 -

1,159 -

8,248 10,209
67,654 107,465
Year anded 31 15 months ended 3
March 2023 March 2022
£'000 £'000
47,788 27 698
{10,192} {12,111}
(185.571) {209,271}
(147,968) (193,684}
{185,571) (209.271)
37,808 15 587




